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Introduction 

 Believing that "half a loaf is better than none," I offer this 

beginning toward a comprehensive history of the town of 

Oakland.  It is not by any means complete, and there are a great 

many sources which have not been followed up mostly due to 

lack of time to do so.  But in the hope that I can add continually 

to what is presented here, let this be a beginning. 

 If there is anyone who has information of historical interest -

- personal, business, educational, industrial - who would be 

willing to share with me, I would be most appreciative. 

 Additionally, those areas for which I have little or no actual 

factual information often cause speculation.  Questions requiring 

further research are indicated with a bordered block and a 

question mark, or are labeled ñINCOMPLETE   INCOMPLETE   

INCOMPLETEò. 

 IF ANY READER WISHES TO ADD ANYTHING TO 

THIS WORK, PLEASE DO SO!!  Preferably, send me a written 

note or an e-mail to ñmdenis46@gmail.comò -- but PLEASE 

leave your name and address along with the information so I can 

contact you directly. 

 Of course, no work would be complete without thanking the 

people who helped make it possible.  I wish I could tap the 
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complete memory banks of three people in particular -- Alfred 

Wheeler, Ruth (Wheeler) Wood, and Gladys (Cornforth) Brewer.   

 Alfred had, for many years, served as an inspiration to me, 

sharing tid-bits of what many people would call "trivia" but 

which are the real muscles which clothe the bones of bare 

history.  I never talked with Alfred without learning something 

new, and I wish I could talk with him for many years to come. 

 Ruth is a true treasure to the town.  Since Alfredôs passing, 

she is now the mental repository of Oaklandôs history.  I just 

wish she would write down all she knows ï but it would take 

another lifetime to do that. 

 Gladys helped me begin this work when I first came to 

Oakland; she remembered many of the people who appear in my 

material on Oakland families, and shared her knowledge with me 

freely and willingly. 

 Two other names must be added to this list, Alberta Porter 

and Ruth (Bartlett) Maschino. 

 Alberta, longtime president of the Oakland Area Historical 

Society, is a whirlwind of activity, and her main interest is in 

getting Oaklandôs history into published form.  She has written 

booklets on businesses, industry, old houses, about anything that 

she can research, and likely has many more projects (which I am 

honored to help complete) in the pipeline. 

 Finally, to the late Ruth (Bartlett) Maschino, daughter of 

Bob and Betty Bartlett of Tukey Road -- Ruth, when we worked 

on the Oakland History for the 4th grade back in the late 1970's, 

and produced slide shows on Oakland history, this work was just 

a figment of our imagination.  It'll never truly be complete, but 

here is the draft copy, an imperfect "ding" if you will. 

May 2013 

Michael J Denis 

PO Box 125 

Parksville, KY 40464 

 

 

Physical and Cultural Geography 

The town of Oakland, located in what is called the "Belgrade 

Lakes Region," is bounded on the west by Waterville, on the 

north by Fairfield and Smithfield, on the west by Smithfield and 

Belgrade, and on the south by Belgrade and Sidney. 

 Oakland's major characteristics are hilly land and several 

bodies of water, namely Messalonskee Lake, Messalonskee 

Stream, and several of the Belgrade Lakes.  These features have 

affected Oakland's growth, as well as the location of its major 

roads and settled areas. 

 The town has an area of about 28 square miles1 .  It is about 

6 miles from north to south, and it ranges from 3¼ to 6¼ miles 

from east to west2 .  The land is not very high compared to other 

areas of Maine, but it is hilly, with very little flat land, and it is 

quite rocky in places. 

 The most important bodies of water are Messalonskee 

Lake and Messalonskee Stream.  The lake is about 8 miles long 

and is almost 5 1/5 square miles in area.  The surface of the lake 

                                                 
1 Attwood, Stanley Bearce.  The Length and Breadth of Maine.  Orono: UM 

Press, 1973, p212. 
2 US Geological Survey (topographical) Maps. 

is normally 234 feet above sea level, and its deepest point is 

about 109 feet3.  The lake today is used mostly for recreation 

including swimming, boating, and fishing, and the number of 

residents who live on the lake the year around has increased 

dramatically since the 1960's.  In the late 1980's and early 1990's, 

the town of Oakland constructed a public park and boat landing 

on the lake, the location being the former Portland Packing 

Company plant which was located at the north end of Lakeview 

Cemetery.  Messalonskee Lake was also the source of all the 

public water supply for Oakland until 1995.  Many long-time 

residents call the lake "Snow Pond" or "Snow's Pond", but few 

are probably aware that the "Snow" refers to Philip Snow, an 

early settler in Sidney, Belgrade, and Rome in succession, not to 

the frozen form of rain.  Legend has it that Snow settled in 

Sidney.  Finding that town too crowded, he and his horse either 

swam across the lake or walked across the ice about 1774, and 

settled in Belgrade.  By about 1780, as that town became more 

settled, Snow moved to Rome, and probably settled at the foot of 

what is now called Mt Philip4.  What is more definitely known 

about Snow is that he was born in Dunstable NH 18 Feb 17485, 

son of Jonathan and Sarah (_____) SNOW6, and died in 

Charleston ME in 1850; he married at Hallowell on 13 Jun 1772 

Abigail TOWNSEND7.  He settled on Messalonskee Lake, in 

Belgrade 17748 near the 1976 location of Bryant Richardson's 

Messalonskee Beach Cottages9.  He and two sons Moses and 

Stephen later moved to Pleasant River, Milo, then to 

Charleston10.  His children included Hannah, Sarah, Jonathan, 

Betsey, Stephen, Moses, Abigail, and Philip11. 

 Messalonskee Stream flows north out of the lake, then turns 

south near the point where Oakland, Fairfield and Waterville 

meet, north of Colby College.  It runs into the Kennebec River at 

Waterville, about 2½ miles south of the Waterville-Winslow 

bridge.  The stream is over 9½ miles long, it drains 205 square 

miles, and it has a fall of almost 120 feet.12  In one place, called 

"The Cascade", the water falls about 100 feet.  It is this fall 

which produced power for some of Oakland's industries, 

although much of the water power produced along the stream 

came from man-made dams, rather than from natural waterfalls. 

 Other bodies of water in Oakland include McGrath or 

McGraw Pond; Ellis or Richardson Pond, also called Salmon 

Lake; East Pond; and "The Bog." 

 McGrath Pond has an area of ¾ square miles, is about 1¼ 

miles long, and has a depth of about 27 feet.13  Its surface water 

is 227 feet above sea level.14  It is connected to Ellis Pond (also 

known as Richardson Pond or Salmon Lake), which has about 

the same dimensions.  These lakes form part of Oakland's 

boundary with Belgrade. 

 East Pond is about 2¾ miles long, has an area of about 2¾ 

square miles, a depth of about 27 feet, and an altitude above sea 

                                                 
3 Attwood, Stanley Bearce.  The Length and Breadth of Maine.  Orono: UM 

Press, 1973, pp. 40, 96 
4 Past and Present: Pictures and People of Belgrade, Maine, 1976,  p 5. 
5 Dunstable NH Vital Records 
6 George B Snow, Richard Snow Genealogy, p231 
7 Hallowell Vital Records 
8 Ava Chadbourne, Maine Place Names, 1955, p145. 
9 Guptill, Past and Present: Pictures and People of Belgrade, Maine 1774-1976. 
10 Loring, History of Piscataquis County, 1885, p66 
11 Maine Families in 1790, v3, p259-260 
12 Atwood, p 196 
13 Atwood, p 193 
14 USGS 



 6 

 
level of 263 feet.15  It is situated in the northwest corner of 

Oakland, along the boundary with Smithfield. 

 "The Bog," located behind the churches on Church St to the 

south of Heath St, drains to Messalonskee Stream by a circuitous 

route much of which is now underground.  The stream draining it 

flows north under Heath St, turns east under Oak St, then 

generally south under the Key Bank on Main St, then under 

Hubbard and Water Streets, where it empties into the stream.  In 

flood time, the stream is apparent, being basically a dry bed the 

rest of the time, so few residents actually connect all the places 

where it is seen with the Bog. 

 Oakland contains in all, 17,926 acres, of which 16,358 acres 

is land, 282 acres is bog and 1,286 acres is water.16 

 Although only a small part of Martin Stream is actually 

located in Oakland, this 18 mile long stream serves as an outlet 

for much of the boggy area in the northwest corner of the town.  

Martin Stream's course starts about a half mile east of the 

junction of present-day Maine Route 137 and the McGraw Pond 

Road.  The bog area so drained is about a half mile wide and 

about three miles long. 

 The only other extensive areas of bog in Oakland are 

between Route 137 and McGrath Pond, between Route 137 and 

East Pond in the extreme western portion of town. 

 Several of the hills in Oakland are named.  Hussey Hill, 

located west of outer Oak Street, is about 480 feet high.  Swan 

Hill, where the Waterville Country Club is located, is about 440 

feet.  High and Summer Streets' crest, called Long Hill on 

Summer St, is over 420 feet high.  Libby Hill crests just 

southeast of the junction of Middle and Webb Roads, at over 420 

feet.  Ten Lots Chapel, on outer Oak Street, is about 400 feet up 

on a 460 foot hill, most of which is in Fairfield. 

 But the highest elevations in the town are along the Belgrade 

boundary, to the west of McGrath Pond.  Mutton Hill and 

Howland Hill together form a saddle back hill with crests at 540 

and 701 feet respectively, and thus, Howland Hill is the greatest 

elevation (640 feet) within the boundaries of the town.17 

 The downtown area of Oakland lies between 220 and 260 

feet above sea level, and is thus nestled in a valley, with hills to 

the east and west of it. 

 The population of Oakland since 1880, according to US 

Census records, shows a general upward trend, accelerating after 

1960: 

YEAR POP. INC/DEC P.C. 

1880 1,646 N/A N/A 

1890 2,044 +398 +24.2 

1900 1,913 -131 -6.4 

1910 2,257 +344 +17.9 

1920 2,473 +216 +9.6 

1930 2,664 +191 +7.7 

1940 2,730 +66 +2.5 

1950 2,679 -51 -1.9 

1960 3,075 +396 +14.8 

1970 3,575 +460 +15.0 

1980 5,176 +1651 +46.7 

1990 5,551 +375 +7.2 

2000 5,959 +408 +7.4 

 

                                                 
15 Atwood, p 143 
16 Atwood, p212 
17 USGS 

 Although many people live in or near the downtown area, 

the population generally is fairly evenly spaced along the major 

roads in town.  Housing developments, which began about 1960, 

are located off Oak Street (Oak Hill Drive, Carriage Wood 

Estates) on Allagash Drive, High Street (Hillside Acres), Middle 

Road (Libby Hill South, and the area around Denise Ave), 

Belgrade Road (Axtell Terrace, Lake View Drive), Kennedy 

Memorial Drive (Pine Acres, Cascade Heights, and the 

Claremont St area), and Trafton Road, with mobile home parks 

located on Oak, Fairfield, Dunn, Ayer, and High Streets, and 

Webb Road.  Condominium development has begun just south of 

Waterville Country Club, and there are several buildings in town 

which were specifically built as apartment buildings, including 

Bucknam's apartments on Water Street, the building across from 

Williams Elementary School, Hillside Apartments on High 

Street, and Oakview Apartments on Oak Street.  Many other 

subdivisions were being considered in the western part of the 

town, especially on or near the lakes. 

 Major roads in Oakland include Kennedy Memorial Drive 

(Me Routes 11 and 137); Fairfield Street (Me Route 23); Water 

Street (Me Route 23); Main Street (Me Routes 11 and 137); 

Church Street (Me Route 11); Summer St; Oak St; Middle Rd; 

Pond Rd (Me Route 23); Webb Rd; and the Country Club Rd.  

Other roads include Gage Rd, Town Farm Rd, East Pond Rd, 

Hussey Hill, County Rd or Gagnon Rd, Tukey Rd, Cottle Rd, 

Trafton Rd, McGraw Pond Rd, Rice's Rips Rd, Marston Rd, 

Second Rangeway, Alpine St, Lake View Drive, Belgrade Ave, 

Rutter Ave, Railroad Ave, Sawtelle Rd, and several downtown 

streets including Heath St, Dunn St, Ayer St, Pleasant St, 

Mechanic St, Hubbard St, Grove St and Maple St.  In addition, 

the US Geological Survey map of Oakland, done about 1960, 

shows at least 33 camp roads leading to Messalonskee Lake, 

Ellis Pond, McGrath Pond and East Pond. 

 The main commercial areas of the town include Main Street 

(Depot Square), Haymarket (Winslow) Square, and Kennedy 

Memorial Drive.  There is also some small commercial 

development on Water, Church, Heath and Oak Streets. 

Native Americans and Early Settlers 

Native Americans of the Oakland Area 

 The most common word in the Oakland area today may well 

be ñMessalonskee.ò  William Brightôs Native American 

Placenames of the United States (University of Oklahoma Pres, 

2007) says:  MESSALONSKEE Lake (Maine, Kennebec Co.) 

\mes ᴅ lonô skǛ\.  Probably from Abenaki (Algonquian), said to 

mean 'white clay' ((Huden 1962); cf mazalopskw 'clayô; (Day 

1994-95). 

 The early history of most towns is incomplete without a 

major chapter on the Native American population of the area.  

Such is not the case, however, with Oakland.  The only record of 

Native Americans within town limits is a small settlement on 

Summer Street near the head of the lake.  It is assumed, until 

further archaeology proves otherwise, that the Indians of the 

Oakland area were members of the Canabis tribe, which roamed 

from Moosehead Lake to Swan's Island along both sides of the 

Kennebec River. 
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 The report of the town librarian for the year 1921, however, 

mentions that relics of the "Red Paint People" were found by 

Professor Morehead, of Andover, Massachusetts, in the 

"Wentworth field" during the summer of 1920, and that the 

artifacts would be placed in the library display cases.  Wentworth 

Field is behind the Principato house on Summer Street near the 

railroad tracks.  Lucile Small gave the Oakland Area Historical 

Society a small jar with some of the red paint dust in it.  The 

Museum has a copy of the report on the Red Paint people done 

by Matthew Kane, son of Rev. Andrew Kane. 

 As far as the Oakland area is concerned, we become familiar 

with the Canabis village on the Kennebec at the falls between 

Waterville and Winslow.  This village, called "Teconnet" with 

many variant spellings, was located on the Winslow side, at 

present-day Fort Hill, and ran along the Sebasticook River about 

a mile.  There was no village on the west side, in either 

Waterville or Oakland, except for the aforementioned small 

settlement on Summer Street in Oakland, but there was in 

Waterville an extensive burying ground, located between 

present-day Temple Street and the Waterville-Winslow bridge. 

 The frequent interaction between Native Americans and the 

English on the lower Kennebec did not concern the Oakland area 

often.  However, the well-known Westbrook expedition of 1724, 

during which the settlement at Norridgewock was destroyed, 

virtually ended Native American activity in the Kennebec valley.  

During the middle 1700's, most of the remaining Canabis Indians 

migrated north to Canada, settling near Sorel, PQ, and today 

form a part of the St-Francois tribe. 

 The construction of Fort Halifax in Winslow in 1754, its 

dismantling in 1763 after the signing of the Treaty of Paris 

ending the French and Indian War, and the incorporation of 

Winslow as a town on 26 April 1771 all testify to the end of 

Native American power in the Kennebec River region.18 

Early Settlers 

 According to George H. Bryant19,  

 "The first three settlers, about the year 1788 in what is 

now Oakland, were Elijah Gleason, Lot Sturtevant, and a 

man who spelled his name Hossom, who was the progenitor 

of those in town who spell the name Hersom, and these three 

men built themselves log cabins at about the same time. 

 "Previously a man by the name of Howe who made his 

home in the winter time at Fort Halifax, had a camp near the 

logging road where it intersects High street where he spent 

his summers.  The three first settlers spent the night with 

him on their first visit to his camp and were entertained at 

supper with nothing but baked pumpkin and milk. 

 "Elijah Gleason built his house on the Gleason farm on 

the road from Oakland to Belgrade near what is now the 

village, Lot Sturtevant on the farm at Ten Lots now owned 

by Charles B. Sturtevant, and Hossom on Mutton Hill.  

Among the names of other settlers in the town were Thomas 

Bates, Solomon and Elisha Hallett, Manoah and Levi 

Crowell, who were soldiers of the Revolution, David, 

                                                 
18 Whittemore, Edwin Carey, ed.  The Centennial History of Waterville, Kennebec 

County, Maine...  Waterville: Executive Commitee of the Centennial 
Celebration, 1902, hereafter cited as CHW, p31-44 

19 Bryant, George H, "Sketch of Oakland," a handwritten document given to John 
S. Tapley in 1924. 

Lemuel and Moody Crowell, Asa Emerson, Elijah Smith, 

Jonathan Combs and John Farrin." 

TEN LOTS 

 In 1774, a group of Quakers from Cape Cod purchased 8000 

acres of land to be located in present-day Fairfield.  Shortly after 

the land had been surveyed, another 2000 acres was granted, to 

be sold in lots of 200 acres each, hence the name "Ten Lots".  

The agent for the Quakers was Elihu Bowerman, now spelled 

Bowman.  The land then occupied by John Tozier was purchased 

and surveyed by John Jones, then granted to the settlers. 

 A "First Day Meeting" was set up in Vassalboro in 1782, 

and Quakers in the Ten Lots region had to travel the fourteen 

miles there without benefit of roads, until a First Day Meeting 

was set up in Fairfield in 1788.  A meeting house had been built 

in North Fairfield in 1783 (about a mile north of the junction of 

routes 104 and 139), and a cemetery located nearby where Elihu 

and Zaccheus Bowerman and many other first settlers were 

buried. 

 Names in the area included Tobey, Hoxie, Holway, Gifford, 

Potter, and Smith, with Bates, Otis, and Shepherd found 

particularly at Ten Lots.20 

OTHER EARLY SETTLERS 

 Among the first settlers of Oakland were the following 

families, found listed in Kingsbury, History of Kennebec County, 

p. 1065, and the US Census of 1790.  It is not certain when these 

families arrived in Oakland, but they were here about 1790.  

Numbers following each name indicate the number of Free 

White Males age 16 up, Free White Males under 16, Free White 

Females, and Total. 

Bates, Thomas 1 3 2 =6 

Coombs, Jonathan 1 0 2 =3 

Crowell, David 1 3 3 =7 

Crowell, Lemuel 

Crowell, Levi 1 3 4 =8 

Crowell, Manoah 1 0 0 =1 

Crowell, Moody 

Emerson, Asa 1 0 5 =6 

Farrin, John 

Hallett, Elisha 1 3 3 =7 

Hallett, Solomon 1 3 3 =7 

Smith, Eliab 1 4 3 =8 

TOTALS (Approx) 9 19 25 =53 

 

 In a survey done by John Crosby in 1802, the following 

inhabitants of West Waterville, Dearborn and Belgrade, with 

their lot numbers, are listed: 

Avery, Samuel, 12 Blake, Nathaniel, 18 * 

Branch, Daniel, 19 # Crowell, Baxter, 4 

Crowell, Ezekiel, 24 # Crowell, Moody, 1 @ 

Crowell, Samuel, 1 # Damon, Robert, 22 

Ellis, William, 16 Fall, Aaron, 13 # 

Hall, Jabez, 7 Hallett, Elisha, 2 @ 

Heald, Solomon, 3 Kenny, Henry, 17 

Merrill, Pearly, 20 Morey, Joshua, 5 

Page, Isaac, 23 Penney, John, 15 

Penney, Nehemiah, 14 Penney, Peltiah, 11 

                                                 
20 Notes of Clifton L Horne, 26 Silver St, Fairfield, 1962 
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Richardson, Henry, 25 Richardson, Henry Jr, 27 

Richardson, Joel, 26 # Richardson, Otis, 25 

[Notes:   

# = Listed in Winslow 1790 Census;  

* = Possibly listed in Belgrade, 1790;  

@ = Resided here 1791 according to Kingsbury]. 

 

 Kingsbury (p 1065) lists the following here in the first third 

of the 19th Century:   

Combs, Jonathan Cook, Thomas 

Cornforth, John Cornforth, Leonard 

Corson, Benjamin Crowell, Baxter 

Crowell, Hiram Dingley, Charles 

Ellis, Michael Emerson, Daniel 

Gage, Isaac Gage, Seth 

Getchell, Seth Gleason, Elijah 

Gleason, George Hallett, Elisha 

Hallett, Watson Hersey, Reuben 

Hersom, Benjamin Hersom, Joseph 

Hersom, Philip Holmes, Eben 

Holmes, Ephraim Holmes, Isaiah 

Lewis, Asa Lewis, William 

Libby, Asa Libby, John 

Libby, Peter Marsten, William 

McFarlin, Thomas Moore, Eben 

Penney, S Pullen, Dexter 

Pullen, Sanford Ricker, Reuben 

Shores, James Shores, Reuben 

Soule, Benjamin Wade, Samuel 

Wheeler, Cyrus Witham, Benjamin 

Witham, James Witham, Samuel 

Wyman, William. 

 

 The following people were listed as residents of West 

Waterville according to Charles Hayden's survey, done in May 

1806.  Their lot numbers appear with the name: 

Badger, John, 97 Ballard, James, 12 

Blackwell, Alvah, 74 Clement, Timothy, 8 

Combs, Jonathan Jr, 76 Crowell, --- BS shop, 19 

Colson, James, 16 Crowell, Baxter, 126 

Cullen, James, 74 Dorr, Richard M, 40 

Gage, Reuben, 100 Homer, Chapman, 109 

Kelley, Joseph, 53 Pullen, Oliver, 108 

Pullen, Sanford, 76 Smith, Ichabod, 105 

Warren, Joseph, 37. 

 

 The following persons with their families and estates were 

annexed to Waterville from Dearborn, east of Magrath's Pond in 

1815: 

Corson, B Magrath, Thomas 

Gleason, Thomas Richardson, Henry 

Holmes, Ebenezer Thayer, Spencer 

Hussey, P Wade, Samuel. 

Foreign-born Settlers 

In later years, of course, many other families settled in West 

Waterville.  Beginning about 1860, families began to move here 

from what is now Quebec.  The first of these French-Canadian 

families is unknown, but by 1880 the following were here: 

 

? 
What was the reaction of people in Oakland to French-Canadian 

immigrants, and later, to other immigrant groups? 

Civic Briefs 

Oakland as Part of Winslow 1771-1802 

 The town of Winslow was incorporated in 1771.  At 

incorporation, it included what is now Waterville and the eastern 

two-thirds of Oakland.  For Winslow's incorporation document, 

see the DOCUMENTS section of this paper. 

 A vote to separate the west portion of Winslow in 1791 

carried 13 - 7, but nothing was done at that time.21 

 Jonathan Combs was elected one of the selectmen for the 

town of Winslow from 1799 to 1801.22 

 Two tax collectors were appointed in 1793, one on each side 

of the Kennebec,23 but still petitions to divide the town were 

frequent.  One plan called for a line one mile west of the river as 

the dividing line, obviously an example of interests in Pullen's 

Mills, the western village, now Oakland.24 

Oakland as Part of Waterville 1802-1873 

 Waterville was incorporated as a separate town in 1802, 

comprising the entire portion of the town west of the Kennebec 

River, therefore including present-day Oakland.  For Waterville's 

incorporation document, see the DOCUMENTS section of this 

paper.  The original western boundary of Waterville ran roughly 

along the East Pond and McGrath Pond line.25 

 At the first Waterville town meeting on 26 July 1802, 

several officers were elected who probably resided in the west 

village:  Surveyors of Highways - Thomas Magrath; School 

Agents - Elisha Hallett; Fence Viewers - Thomas Magrath; Field 

Drivers - Thomas Magrath; Hog Reeves - Joseph Warren.26  

Later town officers from the west village included:27 

 

SELECTMEN: 

 Coombs, Jonathan, 1810, 1814, 1817-18 

 Crowell, Baxter, 1815-16, 1819-20, 1823-24 

 Warren, Joseph, 1826 

 Corson, Benjamin, 1827-29 

 Combs, Jonathan Jr, 1833, 1835-36, 1838, 1844 

 Crowell, Hiram, 1834 

 Hallett, Charles, 1845-46, 1851, 1855-58 

 Winslow, Alfred, 1849-50 

 Libby, John M, 1860-63, 1869-71 

 Hersom, Benjamin, 1864-65 

 Hatch, William H, 1866-67 

 Blaisdell, Samuel, 1868 

 Benjamin, Albion P, 1870-72 

                                                 
21 CHW, 51 
22 Giveen, Clement Martin, ed.  A Chronology of Municipal History and Election 

Statistics, Waterville, Maine, 1771-1908.  Augusta: Maine Farmer Press, 1908, 
hereafter cited as CMH, 196-200 

23 CHW, 51 
24 CHW, 53 
25 CHW, 331 
26 CMH, 56-57 
27 CMH, 196-200 
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REPRESENTATIVES TO THE LEGISLATURE 

 Crowell, Baxter, 1820-23 

 Combs, Jonathan Jr, 1843 

 Benson, Benjamin C, 1859 

 West village candidates ran but were defeated in 24 elections 

between 1816 and 1879. 

 

 Town meetings were held alternately at the East Meeting 

House (now in Waterville) and at the West Meeting House (West 

Waterville).  The second town meeting was held in the west 9 

August 1802.28  The West Meeting House was located on the 

northeast corner of the junction of Church Street and Summer 

Street.29  For further information on this building, see under 

Churches, and in the Documents section, letter from Henry Hatch 

to his niece, Helen ?Smiley. 

 Under President Thomas Jefferson, American trade to 

France and the United Kingdom was embargoed.  At a special 

town meeting on 17 September 1808, Jonathan Coombs was 

appointed by petition to support the Embargo and form an 

address or resolve on the subject.30 

 Final adjudication of claims between Waterville and 

Winslow arising from the division of Winslow was settled on 3 

March 1815, with Jonathan Coombs signing the document, 

witnessed by Thomas Magrath, both from the west village.31 

 At one time between 1815 and 1820, there was a vote to 

divide the town of Waterville.  Demands for public work in the 

Ticonic Village (now downtown Waterville) and resentment in 

the west village, then known as Pullen's Mills, was given as the 

reason.  A town meeting was set for 20 May (I don't know the 

year), but the article to separate was dismissed, causing an uproar 

in the west village.  A new meeting was scheduled for 2 

September, however, and apparently either town sentiments had 

changed or the population of the west village was extremely 

small, for the vote was in the negative, 136 to 16.32 

 Baxter Crowell represented Waterville in the State 

Legislature in 1820.33  In 1843, David Coombs was elected 

County Commissioner.34 

 In 1840, after parts of the town of Dearborn had been 

annexed to both Waterville and Belgrade, there was a poll 

dealing with further annexation to Waterville, the result being 

unanimously against.  In a vote at a town meeting on 25 Jan 

1840, the vote was negative 130-0.35  However, in 1843, politics 

intervened.  Waterville was a Whig town, and the Legislature 

was Democratic, so because the Legislature wanted Dearborn 

annexed to Waterville, it was.36  "It was purely a political move 

intended to give a majority to the Democratic Party37."  The 

portion thus annexed is generally the area west of a line just east 

of Ellis and McGrath Ponds. 

 One person was licensed in West Waterville in 1846 to sell 

liquor, at a profit not to exceed 33 1/3 percent.38  Waterville 

                                                 
28 CMH, 55 
29 CMH, 60 
30 CMH, 66 
31 CMH, 70 
32 CMH, 72 
33 CMH, 75 
34 CMH, 93 
35 CMH, 91 
36 CMH, 93 
37 CHW, 67 
38 CMH, 94 

organized a temperance committee in 1847, which started out 

with the west village's George W Pressey and three others; the 

group later numbered fifteen, including Cyrus Wheeler, William 

Lewis, Jonathan Higgins, John Cornforth, George W Pressey and 

Eusebius Heald.39 

 Separation was the talk of the town in 1853, as two 

movements arose.  First, a new county was proposed on 12 

January, which would have included Belgrade, Rome, 

Smithfield, Fairfield, Waterville, Clinton, Clinton Gore, Canaan, 

Burnham, Unity, Unity Plantation, Pittsfield, Detroit, Albion, 

Albion Gore, Winslow, and Benton.  Waterville was to be the 

shiretown, but the measure failed in the Legislature.  Separation 

of Waterville was discussed at the 14 March town meeting, and a 

new town, West Waterville, was proposed.  The measure failed, 

and the west village remained part of Waterville, usually 

unhappily, until 1873.40 

 The west village at least managed to get one of its own, 

Solyman Heath, chosen as town clerk from 1856 to 1860.41 

 The Civil War saw great activity in both villages in 

Waterville.  For evidence, see the list of Civil War soldiers 

below.  The Enlistment Committee, formed on 25 July 1862 

included John M Libby and John W Hubbard from the west 

village.  To pay bounty expenses, William P Blake loaned the 

town $1000 at 6% interest.42 

 In selecting a representative to the Legislature for 1866, 

there was obvious disharmony between the east and west villages 

of Waterville.  Abner R Small was the unanimous choice of the 

west, and Reuben Foster, of the east.43 

 At the conclusion of the war, the town of Waterville voted 

$2000 for war monuments 8 March 1869, the amount to be 

divided equally between the two villages.44  The east village cast 

and mounted a statue which today stands in the park diagonally 

opposite the Waterville Public Library.  The west village, 

however, used its funds to build the present Memorial Hall, a 

building which has been in constant use for over 125 years as this 

is written.  The Oakland Chronicle, produced by the Daughters of 

Union Veterans in 1932, has an article by George H Bryant, 

related to Louise M Benson on 16 December 1928, dealing with 

Memorial Hall.  See the DOCUMENTS section of this paper. 

                                                 
39 CHW, 67; CMH, 95 
40 CMH, 99 
41 CMH, 196 
42 CMH, 106 
43 CHW, 79 
44 CMH, 112 
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Illus 1 - Memorial Hall (1870). 

 A frequent cause of strife between the two villages, Ticonic 

Bridge, spanning the Kennebec River between Waterville and 

Winslow, washed away again on 5 October 1869.  Kennebec 

County had been requested to take charge of the bridge, but in 

the end, Waterville and Winslow had to pay for the cost of 

replacement.45  This caused great upset in the west village, since 

relatively few residents there used the bridge, yet they would be 

taxed to pay for it.  At a special town meeting on 18 June 1870, 

there were two factions, one supporting the bridge led by 

Eldridge L Getchell receiving 419 votes, and one opposing the 

bridge led by Solyman Heath receiving 428 votes.  The vote was 

so large and apparently falsified and attendance at the meeting 

was so large that the meeting adjourned to "the grove", on the 

plains to use the check list for the 1868 presidential election.  

The "Yes" forces had ballots printed up to support the bridge, but 

the final vote was in favor 389-15.46  When the bridge was built, 

it cost $32,000, of which Waterville's share was $26,000.  The 

bridge opened 1 December 1870.47 

 The rivalry between the villages continued to grow, and 

even writers of the day like S L Boardman in his section of 

Kingsbury and Deyo's History of Kennebec County, noted that 

"the East village is celebrated for its beauty; the West, for its 

business."  CHW also noted48 that "On account of the large 

development of the manufacture of scythes and axes but the 

Dunns and others at West Waterville, this was true and the 

prospect of growth in the western part of the town seemed much 

brighter than it did here [the East]. " Separation was not far off. 

 At town meeting on 13 March 1871, another vote was taken 

to divide the town, but it too failed.  As one way to gain support 

in the west village for Waterville, the town voted to purchase a 

fire engine for the west village.  The tactic didn't work. 

 There were two town meetings in 1873.  Albion P Benjamin, 

chairman of the Waterville Board of Selectmen, circulated a 

petition which gathered 350 names.49  At a vote on 28 January in 

Waterville, 227 voted in favor of division, 130 opposing.  At a 

                                                 
45 CMH, 113 
46 CMH, 116-117 
47 CMH, 116-117 
48 CHW, 78 
49 CHW, 83-84 

meeting on 4 February in West Waterville, those favoring 

division abstained, those opposing it cast 393 votes.  A 

legislative committee studied the controversy, and voted against 

by 5 to 4, but the minority was persuasive in its arguments.  

Reasons for division were given: (1) the distance between the 

two villages; (2) the separate corporate capacity of the two 

villages; (3) differing business interests; (4) opposition of each to 

improvements in the other village; and (5) the struggle over the 

Kennebec bridge, with a loss of $8,000 to the west village.  

Ultimately, a legislative bill separated the town, and was 

approved by Governor Perham on 26 February 1873.50 

West Waterville 1873-1883 

 At the first West Waterville town meeting on 10 March 

1873, a settlement committee to settle accounts with Waterville 

was appointed, containing from West Waterville Albion P 

Benjamin, John M Libby, and George Rice.51  Expenses and 

debts were divided between the two towns, with West Waterville 

paying 30% or $18,071.25 of Waterville's town debt of 

$60,239.52; Waterville owed West Waterville $4,796.15 for real 

and personal property, $5,000 for the bridge, and $980 of the 

cash on hand, leaving West Waterville owing the parent town a 

final figure of $7,706.42.52  Thus, the last portion of the division 

question was settled, and West Waterville entered the world as a 

separate corporate entity. 

Oakland 1883-1993 

 Controversy with Waterville was not over, however.  On 16 

March 1881, the Waterville Water Company (now the Kennebec 

Water District) was chartered.  The company proposed to take 

water from Messalonskee Lake (Snow Pond) to use in 

Waterville. 

 At the town meeting on 26 Feb 1886, Article 23 stated:  "To 

see if the town will take action in opposition to the efforts of the 

Waterville Water Co. to take and hold water from Snow Pond as 

granted by Act of March 16, 1881 -- said Act having been 

smuggled through both houses of the Legislature without the 

knowledge or consent of any individual resident of this town." 

 However, a resolution passed in Oakland on 8 March 1886:  

"In view of the fact that Waterville is rapidly growing and soon 

to attain ten times its present population and needs, the following 

motion was unanimously carried, and a committee consisting of 

John Ayer, Luther Emerson, and A J Libby were chosen to assist 

the selectmen in fighting this movement and to raise money 

necessary for the purpose.  "This town does hereby earnestly and 

emphatically protest against the taking of any water from Snow 

Pond by the Waterville Water Company, and that the selectmen 

be instructed to use every legitimate way and means within their 

power to prevent the consummation of the subtle, underhand, and 

wicked scheme of said Water Company to rob the people of this 

town of their vested rights and property."53 

 As a result of this protest, the Waterville Water Company 

decided instead to take water from Messalonskee Stream.54 

? 

                                                 
50 CHW, 83-84 
51 CMH, 119-120 
52 CMH, 120 
53 CMH, 136 
54 CMH, 138-139 
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What is the story of "Typhoid Mary" and shifting Waterville's 

water source from Messalonskee Stream to China Lake? 

 The town offices were moved (from where?) to the basement 

of Memorial Hall about 1904; when the Messalonskee National 

and Cascade Savings Banks vacated the rooms, they were 

available for other purposes.  Also, the free lending library was 

set up on the same premises at about this time. 

 Tax exemptions began appearing in the town report about 

1904.  In that year, an article proposed exempting the Cascade 

Grange from taxes for 10 years; in 1912, another proposal would 

have remitted part of the Oakland Woolen Mill's 1911 taxes, as 

well as exempting Rev A L Gerrish from 1912 taxes.  In 1926, a 

tax abatement was proposed for the new plant of Portland 

Packing, for 5 years.  This plant was built just north of Lakeview 

Cemetery, where the town park and boat landing is located 

today; the buildings were taken down in the early 1970's, and for 

several years the property stood idle and vacant. 

 The Town of Oakland assumed responsibilities for Memorial 

Hall in 1907.  The trustees of the West Waterville Soldiers' 

Monument Association had run the hall since it was built in 

1869.  From here on the Sergeant Wyman post of the Grand 

Army of the Republic was to retain control of the Post Room for 

$1 per day, while the town heated and lighted it, the Woman's 

Relief Corps and Sons of Union Veterans to have same privileges 

for $.50 per day used. 

 A clock was proposed in 1908, to be placed in the tower of 

the Methodist Church on School Street.  Evidently, the article 

didn't pass, however.  One article which did pass in 1909 

proposed that the town assume liability for keeping the newly-

erected fish screen at the outlet of Messalonskee Lake free of 

debris. 

 The Lewis Cemetery was enlarged in 1913 when the town 

voted to purchase a lot from A R Peavey of 3½ acres. 

 Diphtheria and scarlet fever epidemics arose in 1914.  In 

1912, there was one case of each disease reported; in 1913, three 

cases of diphtheria and five of scarlet fever were reported; in 

1914, diphtheria cases rose to 33, with five scarlet fever cases.  

Public health appropriations were excessive due to the cost of 

antitoxins and fumigating because of the increased price of 

material caused by "the war." 

 The end of World War I brought two proposals in the 1919 

town meeting; (1) a proposal for an addition to Memorial Hall to 

honor servicemen; and (2) money for a reception for the men 

from Oakland who served in the war.  The first was not 

accomplished; the second was, and the town held a giant parade 

and reception in the summer of 1919, when many of the men had 

been discharged for military service. 

 The format of town government changed in 1936, when the 

town voted to abandon the selectman form and replace it with a 

Town Council and Town Manager form of government.  Many 

of the former town official positions were now to be handled by 

the manager. 

 The town operated an Air Observation Post during World 

War II.  It was located at the west corner of Summer Street near 

the Belgrade Road, and was sold in 1945.  In the same year, there 

was a proposal to allow the showing of motion pictures on 

Sundays between 3 pm and 11:30 pm.  The Oakland Theater was 

located at the southeast corner of Water St and Main St; it was in 

operation into the late 1960's, and later became in succession, the 

"Food for Thought" restaurant, a pizza shop, Aubuchon 

Hardware, and is now the Oakland Furniture store. 

 
Illus 2 - Oakland Theater, corner of Main and Water 

Streets. 
 Also in that year, the budget committee recommended 

building a community building to serve as a community 

auditorium and veteran's service center as memorial to WWII 

veterans, and raising $25,000 for a reserve fund until such 

memorial could be built; it never was built. 

 The Town Farm was sold in 1948, ending many years of 

town operation of this facility for the poor and indigent.  The 

money realized was put into a fund for the new fire station. 

INCOMPLETE -- INCOMPLETE  

Education 

Important Dates 

1826 Limits of school districts listed 

1864 High school age students attend Waterville Academy 

1873 ?Free high school organized by 1873 

1883 School districts abolished 

1890 School added in Elias Bowman neighborhood 

1891 Number 3 school brought to Village 

1892 Brickett School closed 

1892 New school built in Thayer/Holmes district 

1893 Holmes School and Thayer School closed. 

1893 Fairfield Road School built. 

1895 Mar 8 - High School burned (Waterville Mail) 

1895 Mar 22 - Repairs at HS commenced, ready shortly. 

1896 Graded system introduced except for Union (on 

Smithfield Rd near Town Farm Rd), Dearborn, Libby 

Hill, Ten Lots and Hussey Hill Schools 

1898 Sep 17 - New High School begun 

1898 ?Blake School sold? 

1900 Sep 14 - New High School burned 

1901 "Old Schoolhouse" moved to corner of School and 

Water 

1901 High School replaced 

1911 Oakland Heights (Ten Lots) School closed 

1912 Libby Hill School closed 

1912 Dearborn School sold 

1912 Memorial Hall housed 2nd grade 

1915 Libby Hill School reopened 

1917 6th Grade moved to Grade School 

1918 Jul 1 - Union with Sidney and Rome 
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1919 Hose House between Baptist and Universalist 

Churches remodeled to hold 2nd Grade 

1921 Physical Education added at High School 

1921 8 grade elementary system added 

1921 Will of M L Williams bequeathed $25,000 

1921 G H Bryant donated $2,500 

1921 Memorial Hall and Hose House used for 1st grade 

1921 Land on Pleasant Street purchased for a high school 

1923 Basketball dropped when Messalonskee Hall was 

remodeled 

1924 Mar - Town voted to build new high school 

1925 Sep - Williams H S opened 

1925 Basketball returned 

1925 Oakland Teachers Assoc organized 

1925 Sep - Part of 7th grade moved from WHS to old HS 

1926 Dec - Union School (junction of Town Farm and 

Smithfield Roads) burned 

1927 Tennis courts begun 

1927 "Old School" on Belgrade Ave sold 

1928 Union School rebuilt 

1932 Feb 25 - John S Tapley died 

1933 Hot dishes first served in WHS cafeteria 

1933 Power machinery added to Manual Arts classes 

1934 Libby Hill School closed for 1 year to save money 

1934 Sep - Sub-Primary grade started 

1934 Sep - 7th grade returned to WHS 

1936 Nov - Waterville Road students conveyed by bus 

instead of WF&O Railway 

1937 Sep - Union School closed, pupils conveyed to Water 

St 

1937 Sep - 8th grade science course added 

1937 Sep - HS began at 8:40, 20 minutes earlier than before 

1937 Sep - Achievement and IQ testing begun in elementary 

grades 

1938 Libby Hill School sold 

1938 Union School sold; it is now a private residence 

1938 Sep - Dental clinic started 

1938 Sep - One year Civics, one year US history added; 

advanced civics becomes PAD 

1939 Water Street primary school sold 

1939 Sep - J S Tapley School opened 

1940 Grades 1-7 at Tapley, 8-12 at WHS 

1941 Tennis Courts at WHS resurfaced 

1942 War-related courses added at WHS 

1945 School St School (Old HS?) sold 

1946 Feb - Supt Cutts proposed WHS addition 

1947 Sep - Public Library used for a class until WHS 

construction done 

1947 Sep - Football program at WHS reinstated 

1947 Dec 23 - Enlarged gymnasium unofficially opened at 

WHS 

1948 Jan - Indoor crowd of 1000 attended musical 

"Americana" at WHS 

1948 Mar - Classrooms in WHS addition ready 

1956 Jun - Primary School begun 

1957 Jan - Primary School opened 

1962 Addition to WHS built (locker rooms, 2 science labs) 

1965 Nov - SAD 47 organized with Oakland and Sidney 

1966 Jan - Belgrade joined SAD 47 

1968 Sep - Grade 8 students attended Belgrade Central 

1969 Sep - Messalonskee HS opened, WHS became 

Williams Junior High School 

1975 Primary and Bean School additions built 

1981 Belgrade addition/renovation under construction 

1984 Sep - 7th and 8th graders from Rome tuitioned to 

WJHS 

1985 Mar - K-6 students from Rome tuitioned to Belgrade 

Central 

1985 Jun - Rome Elementary School closed 

1986 WJHS renovation/addition approved 

1986 Jun -Renovation of WJHS began 

1986 Oct 17 - WJHS students moved to Gilman Street, 

Waterville 

1987 Sep - WJHS reopened, dedicated 18 Oct 

1989 May 31 - Straw vote on Messalonskee HS renovation 

1989 Sep - WJHS became a middle school 

1990 Apr - Messalonskee HS renovation begun 

1992 Nov - MHS Rededication, series of public events 

2003 Sep ï Messalonskee Middle School opens with grades 6-8 

2009 July ï SAD 47 officially becomes Regional School District 

18, with the inclusion of China with Belgrade, 

Oakland, Rome and Sidney. 

Winslow and Waterville 1771 - 1873 

WINSLOW, 1771-1802 

 While Oakland was a part of the town of Winslow, 

appropriations for education were not always made, as was the 

case in spending for the ministry.  There were a number of years 

when the tax burden of the town was just so great, that no money 

was available for education, and such education as was available 

was usually done at home, anyway. 

 In 1778, money was appropriated for a minister, but not for 

schools; in 1780, neither was funded.  Capt. Zimri Haywood was 

allowed four pounds, eight shillings and sixpence for pay and 

boarding of a schoolteacher for one money as of March, 1787.  In 

1788, 1789 and 1790, no money was spent on either religion or 

education, but in 1791, fifty pounds was spent for schooling.  

Evidently, private schools were the order of the day.  Witness 

this document: 

 

  Winslow, 28th Dec. 1796 

 Whereas Abijah Smith of said Winslow, has agreed to keep 

a school in Ticonic Village [now downtown Waterville] for the 

term of three months next ensuing the date hereof, and board 

himself and find a room convenient for that purpose.  We the 

subscribers do promise to pay him twenty dollars pr month--two 

dollars of which is to be paid weekly for his board--and the 

remainder to be paid at the expiration of said three months each 

one to pay in proportion to the number he signs for--also to find 

and hall to said room, a sufficient quantity of fire-wood for said 

school. 

Nehemiah A Parker, One John Rogers, Three 

Benj. Chase, Three Elnathan Sherwin, Two 

Getchell & Redington, Five Edw'd Piper for two 

James M'Kim for three Jona. Clark, Three 

 

Feby 7th, 1797" 
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 Often schoolmasters were paid in kind rather than in money, 

which was depreciated nearly to the point of being worthless.  

Pay in "pickled herring" was better than in paper money of the 

time. 

 Winslow voted $250 for education in March 1796; the term 

"school district" first appeared in the same meeting records.  

School agents on the west side of the river (Waterville and 

Oakland) elected in 1798 included Nathaniel Low, Asa 

Redington, Daniel Carter, Jonathan Combs, David Pattee, Hugh 

Osborne and Thomas Bates.  Combs was probably the agent for 

what is now downtown Oakland.  In 1800, Winslow appropriated 

$400 for schools. 

WATERVILLE, 1802-1873 

 In Waterville's first town meeting, 26 July 1802, school 

agents were elected, to include Elisha Hallett, Thomas Parker, 

Nehemiah A Parker, Nelson Colcord, Asa Soule, Micah Ellis, 

Isaac Corson, John Streter, Thomas Cook and Samuel Moors.  In 

a meeting on 9 August 1802, $300 was voted for schools. 

 The following March, 1803, $400 was voted for education; 

and on 2 May 1803, school districts were reported as" Ticonic, 

Rose's, Ten-lot, Almond Soule's, Tozer's, Low's, Moor's, Asa 

Soule's, Osborne's and Crowell's.  The agents had full power over 

the running of schools, hiring of teachers and providing teacher 

salaries. 

 By 1827's town meeting, the superintending school 

committee, usually consisting of three members, was required: 

 "to make a written report to the town, at the annual meeting 

in March, describing the state and condition of the several 

schools in the town, which report shall embrace the following 

particulars, viz. the name of each school agent, the amount of 

money apportioned to each school district, the number of 

scholars as returned to the selectmen, the amount of money 

expended in each district for instruction -- designation how much 

for masters and how much for mistresses and how much for 

wood, and the names and wages of the instructors, and how long 

each one has been employed, the number of scholars present at 

each examination, the greatest as well as the average number of 

scholars that have attended each school, the kind of books of 

every kind used in each school, the number of scholars in each 

school that have attended to the study of English grammar, 

arithmetic and geography and each of them, together with such 

remarks and observations as the committee may be pleased to 

make on the discipline, progress and appearance of each, whether 

creditable to the scholars and instructors, or otherwise, whether 

the money appears to have been faithfully and judiciously 

expended by the several agents or not, whether the scholars are 

sufficiently provided with suitable books -- with such other facts 

as the committee may deem interesting and worthy to be 

communicated to the town, which report shall be lodged with the 

town clerk, and preserved in his office." 

 

? 
Was this requirement met?  Are the records extant? 

 

 In 1826 or 1827, the limits of each of the then thirteen 

school districts was set out in the town records.  But for many 

years, the business of transferring families from one district to 

another took up many pages in the records.  Families requested a 

transfer for various reasons: the quality of teachers, size of the 

school, distance from the school. 

 In the meeting of 1829, $900 was voted for schools.  By 

1836 there were 14 districts with a total student population of 

1049, and expenditures of $1131.18.  Pay ranged from $26 a 

month to $4 a month.  The entire teaching force in 1836 included 

Martha Bowman, Celia A Colburn, Lyman Corson, Elvira 

Cowan, J G Dickenson, William L Eaton, Crosby Hinds, Louisa 

N Ingalls, Philip N Kimball, Mary Ladd, Maria Libby, Mary 

Marston, Charlotte Mathews, Charles Morrill, Martha W Nelson, 

Caroline Pullen, David Purington, Martha A Sheldon, Sophia 

Thayer, Danforth Thomas, E M Thurston, Adeline Tozier, Jacob 

Tuck, H C Warren, Serena Whitman, and Thomas Wright. 

 In 1864, high school age students were attending Waterville 

Academy, later Coburn Classical Institute, on a tuition basis, the 

town not having a public high school.  Also, beginning in 1864, 

the superintending school committees prepared printed reports, 

dealing with what were then current issues in local education: 

Interest in Education, Kind of Education Needed; Qualification 

of Teachers; Selection of Teachers; Interest and Co-operation of 

Parents; Text-Books; and others. 

West Waterville and Oakland 1873-1918 

WEST WATERVILLE, 1873-1883 

 When Oakland was incorporated as West Waterville in 

1873, there were twelve schools -- nine school districts and a free 

High School.  District Number 1, comprising the village area, 

had a Lower and an Upper Primary School, an Intermediate 

School and a Grammar School.  Miss Fannie Dinsmore Weston, 

who supposedly graduated from the Farmington Normal School 

(now University of Maine at Farmington) about 1868, was 

Superintendent of Oakland schools from about 1872 or 1874 to 

about 1884, when she apparently married Eugene Sewall of 

Madison.55 

 

? 
When was the first high school opened in West Waterville?  

Where was it located? 

 

 By 1879, the town raised $2290.24 for the education of 529 

students.  The Supervisor of Schools, commented in the annual 

report on several important subjects: 

 1 - "Responsibility of Agents...a word of advice to agents.  

Do not employ teachers simply because you can get them cheap, 

for often they prove the dearest. ... Employ your teacher early.  

Do not wait till every good teacher is engaged ... 

 2 - "Qualifications of Teachers ... Teachers should 

understand that if they expect to receive employment, they must 

fully qualify themselves for their work ... Few teachers fail of 

success for want of education, where many fail for want of skills 

in the government and general management of their schools. 

 3 - "Duties of Parents ... If parents fully realized how much 

substantial good a hearty cooperation on their part would effect; 

if they could only see how like magic a friendly call and a word 

                                                 
55 Barbara Mildram, Ocean View #59, 52 Falmouth Rd, Falmouth, ME 04105, 

interview at York, ME 11 Jul 1992; on 10 Oct 1992 Ms Mildram indicated that 
she could find no record of Fannie Dinsmore in Farmington Normal School 
matriculation or attendance records. 
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of cheer operate on the courage of the teacher and the ambition 

of the scholar; they would be frequent visitors at the school 

room. 

 4 - "Small Districts ... Cannot two adjoining districts be 

united, or some means devised for conveying scholars from a 

small to a larger school?  It is better to go a long way to a good 

school, than to have a poor one at your door."56 

 The main problems in 1879 were to plague the town for 

many years--poor attendance and schools in poor condition.  The 

beginning of a move to change or abolish the district system stem 

from this time, and were to be approved in 1883. 

 The Town Report for 1881 notes the same two problems, 

attendance and poor conditions.  The Supervisor stated in her 

report that "...Nearly every school house out of the village district 

is inconvenient and uncomfortable, while some of them are not 

only poor, but wretched hovels,...One of these school houses 

only is furnished with more than one chair; that one has two, they 

are both broken." 

 The following year, 1882, noted a "... general improvement 

in the deportment of the pupils ...", but attendance in the village 

schools was only 82%, and only 62% in the rural schools.  

Parents were blamed for this situation -- they did not make sure 

their children were in school because many of them did not see 

the value of schooling. 

OAKLAND, 1883-1900 

 Voters were asked in town meeting on 12 March 1883 to 

approve abolition of the district system and the furnishing of 

textbooks to the students without charge.  They did approve, 

partly because of the Supervisor Dr. David E Parson's plea that 

"...The disadvantages and unfavorable results growing out of this 

system are ... numerous ... [and] ... disgraceful ... [If districts 

were abolished] schools can be united, school-houses built, better 

teachers secured, school prolonged, scholars from distant parts of 

the town conveyed to school, and a general stimulus given to 

common school education, which can be reached in no other 

manner." 

 The 1883 report noted that 438 out of 565 students of school 

age attended school; schools listed included Upper Primary, 

Lower Primary, Intermediate, Grammar, High School, Districts 

2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9; and $2690.25 was spent on common 

schools and $735.50 on the High School. 

 The table below indicates what transpired from 1884 to 

1894: 

  Cost of Cost of 

 Attendance Common High 

YEAR / Enrolled / % Schools School 

1884 457 / 597 / 77% $2649.44 $899.03 

1885 452 / 645 / 70% $3120.52 $1046.85 

1886 421 / 589 / 71% $3430.77 $1072.15 

1887 433 / 596 / 73% $3991.08 $818.49 

1888 440 / 598 / 74% $3613.71 $993.84 

1889 451 / 592 / 76% $3762.68 $919.00 

1890 412 / 545 / 76% $3781.24 $1344.50 

1891 393 / 565 / 70% $3134.18 $1141.50 

1892 421 / 554 / 76% $3685.98 $960.75 

1893 427 / 601 / 71% $3566.73 $1087.00 

1894 412 / 597 / 69% $3611.15 $1177.00 

                                                 
56 Town Report 1879 

 During these years, several things changed in Oakland.  

Voters were asked to build a school on Fairfield Road near Rice 

Bridge, now the corner of Fairfield Street and Rice's Rips Road, 

in 1884.  Students in this area were, prior to this date, educated 

by Waterville.  The amount of money Oakland paid to Waterville 

from 1873 to 1884 would have been enough for the town to have 

built a school of its own there. 

 In 1890, a school was added in the Elias Bowman 

neighborhood, and attendance was down due to "want of proper 

clothing".  In 1891, the Number 3 school was brought to the 

Village.  In 1892, a new school was built in the Thayer/Holmes 

District.  In 1893, students at the Brickett School were conveyed 

to other schools due to small enrollment, the high school was 

renovated to replace 7 stoves with central heating, and the 

Thayer and Holmes schools were closed. 

 The 1892 Town Report listed schools and enrollments by 

term, Spring, Fall and Winter, as became the custom for many 

years.  Schools without winter terms are indicated with **, while 

## indicates that school was still in session, as of the writing of 

the report. 

 

School Spring Fall Winter 

Free High School 53 60 ## 

Grammar School 66 55 54 

Intermediate School 32 40 41 

Upper Primary School 55 55 48 

Lower Primary School 50 52 50 

Libby Hill School 26 27 ## 

Dearborn School 21 16 ## 

Oakland Heights School 13 11 10 

Holmes School 16 10 **  

Thayer School 19 19 ## 

Hussey Hill School 14 14 ## 

Brickett School 12 11 9 

Union School ? ? 25 

 In 1894, the town report lists the schools as Free High, 

Grammar, Intermediate, Upper Primary, Lower Primary, Libby 

Hill, Fairfield Road, Oakland Heights (Ten Lots), Union, and 

Hussey Hill. 

 
Illus 3 - Grammar (School St) School 

 The report for 1895 reported spending $4060.25 for 

common schools and $1428 for the high school, and also 

suggested that discussion begin on moving to a graded school 

system to equalize educational opportunity. 
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 In 1896, $4349.60 was spent on common schools and $1637 

on the high school, which suffered a fire before the close of the 

1895-96 winter term. 

 The town moved to a graded school system in the fall of 

1896.  The High School contained grades 10 through 13; the 

Grammar School contained grades 6 through 9; the Intermediate 

school contained grades 4 through 6; the Upper Primary 

contained grades K through 3; and the Lower Primary contained 

grades 1 through 3.  The Union, Dearborn, Libby Hill, Oakland 

Heights (Ten Lots) and Hussey schools remained ungraded.  No 

mention is made of the Fairfield Road, Brickett, or 

Thayer/Holmes schools. 

 Also in 1897, a recommendation was made that the High 

School be added on to, and that a course of study be standardized 

in all of the schools.  The high school courses that year included 

an English Course and a College Preparatory Course, with the 

notation that a Latin-Scientific Course could be pursued by 

omitting Greek and taking French or a science instead.  $3574.29 

was expended on common schools and $1278 on the High 

School. 

 Grading remained the same in the 1897-98 school year, but 

the Perkins School was added to the ungraded list.  Also, plaster 

boards were replaced with "modern" slate boards; and the high 

school addition of a new room, several ante-rooms and improved 

heating and ventilation was proposed.  Expenditures were 

$3845.29 on common schools and $1296 on the High School. 

 The 1899 report noted that a new high school building had 

been begun on 17 September 1898, at a cost of $9363.67.  Article 

25 of the warrant proposed moving the old high school, and 

article 27 proposed selling the Blake school.  Grading remained 

as in the previous year except that the Intermediate School held 

grades 4 and 5, the Upper Primary School contained grades 1, 2, 

and 3, and the ungraded schools included Union, Dearborn, 

Oakland Heights (Ten Lots), and Libby Hill. 

 The turn of the century saw little change in education. With 

496 students and expenditures of $3515.36 and $1220 for 

common schools and the high school, the Grammar School was 

split into the First Grammar School (grades 8 and 9) and the 

Second Grammar School (grades 6 and 7).  The High School also 

adopted a new course of study, to include an English and a Latin-

Scientific course. 

OAKLAND, 1900 - 1918 

 On 14 September 1900, the new High School burned.  The 

building housed the four largest schools in the town, and the loss 

included the school library as well.  The Daily Kennebec Journal 

reported the following: 

 

 OAKLAND'S LOSS -- Handsome New High School 

Building Gutted by Fire -- Building Cost $11,000 Two Years 

Ago - Insurance about $5000 -- The Fire Supposed to have 

Originated from a Defective Chimney 

 Oakland, Me., Sept. 14. -- (Special)-- Thursday night, at 

about 12 o'clock, the citizens of the place were aroused from 

their slumbers by loud cries of "fire."  Investigation proved 

that fire had broken out in the new school building on School 

street, and by the time assistance arrived on the scene, the 

entire top of the structure was in flames.  At first it looked as 

though the building was doomed to entire destruction, also 

the old school building on an adjoining lot, as well as several 

other buildings in the vicinity. 

 By the prompt work of the firemen, who worked well and 

bravely, the flames were subdued and adjoining buildings 

were saved, although at one time fire was discovered on the 

roofs of the other houses, having caught from flying sparks. 

 The school building is almost a total wreck, being badly 

damaged by water as well as fire.  The four walls were left 

standing and some of the furniture and books in the various 

rooms can be used.  The library at the top of the building was 

entirely destroyed. 

 The fire is supposed to have caught from a defective 

chimney, though the building has been built within two years, 

at a cost of $11,000.  The loss is partially covered by 

insurance of $5000. 

 

 
Illus 4 - Oakland High School, rebuilt 

 

 Many problems were evident according to the 1901 Town 

Report: (1) two primary schools were in bad shape, but the town 

voted $208.73 to renovate the Lower Primary School; (2) the 

school at Oakland Heights (Ten Lots) had 6 Oakland and 11 

Fairfield students, which was a problem for the town; (3) 

compulsory attendance laws were passed which mandated 

schooling for students between the ages of 7 and 16; and (4) 

conveyance to school was allowed only when the hardship of the 

student was involved.  The report also noted that 3 terms of 12 

weeks rather than 10 would be advantageous; tuition was set at 

$3.00 per term for the English Course and $3.50 for the Latin-

Scientific Course; and the town voted to move the old school 

house (WHICH ONE?) to the corner of School and Water 

Streets. 

 A positive change took place in 1901-02.  The high school 

was replaced at a cost of $4972.50; the old high school building 

was moved and renovated at a cost of $1018.63; the Union 

School became a graded school, holding grades 1-5; and the loss 

of the school library was partly rectified by Articles 33 and 34, 

when the town voted to establish a free public library. 

 

 Few changes took place between 1902 and 1906.  The 1906 

report listed teachers' weekly salaries as follows: 

High School Grades 10 - 13 $27.70 
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First Grammar School Grades 8 and 9 $10.00 

Second Grammar School Grades 6 and 7 $9.00 

Intermediate School Grades 4 and 5 $9.00 

Old High School Grade 3 $7.50 

Upper Primary School Grades 1 and 2 $8.25 

Lower Primary School Grades 1 and 2 $8.25 

Union, Oakland Heights, Libby Hill $8.25 

 

 As of September 1906, the High School contained grades 6 

through 13, and the Intermediate School housed grades 3 through 

5 at a renovated cost of $2200.  Also, the Woman's Relief Corps 

presented the schools with 12 flags, one for each schoolroom in 

town. 

 The outbuildings at the Libby Hill School were blown over 

during the winter of 1907.  The school report also recommended 

replacing four hot air furnaces at the High School with a steam 

plant. 

 The 1909-10 school year witnessed a class trip for the high 

school graduates (all six of them); eye and ear testing for the first 

time; a revised course of study; and 14 teachers in the system.  

The Oakland Heights school was closed in 1911, and the Libby 

Hill School in 1912, leaving only one rural school.  Five 

graduates finished school in 1911, and 5 more in 1912--Lucretia 

Dingley, Gladys E Gleason, Leda B Kelley, Evan R Perkins, and 

John Perry. 

 1912-13 was relatively uneventful, but the report for 1914 

begins a long series of problems with overcrowding, continuing 

to the present day.  The Memorial Hall was used to house the 2nd 

grade that year.  Oakland High was graduating 6 students, but 

had 28 entering from grade 9; the town was told to expect 65 

students in a room designed for 56.  A proposal was made to 

build a new building, but the decision as to whether it should be a 

high school or a grade school was not made.  Industrial education 

was added in grades 6 - 9, being an elective in high school.  

Graduates that year were Clair Sawtelle, Gertrude M Greene, 

Henry A Snell, Iva M Rowe, John J Gleason, Flossie M Baker, 

Masey E Flynn, Ruth E Tozier, Ada B Sturtevant, Mildred C 

Stevens and Laura Lewis.  High school enrollment was 6 seniors, 

10 juniors, 6 sophomores and 23 freshmen. 

 The 1915 report noted that the Dearborn School was sold for 

$202, enrollment decreased, and Arthur W Greeley, Alton B 

Libby, Elizabeth W Bowman, Ernest P Oliver, and Ruth E Foster 

graduated.  Bertha Eldridge, Kenneth R Farr, Margaret L Otis, 

Harold A Walton, Hylda F Marsh, Gladys Leach, Grace E Brown 

and Belle M Dow were listed as graduates in the 1916 report.  In 

the same report, mention was made of the 6th grade being moved 

to the grade school, and the commercial classroom being moved 

into the room thus vacated.  Alfred Marsh, Leland Bickford and 

Asenath Tozier were listed as graduates in 1917. 

 The school year 1917-18 was memorable for a number of 

reasons.  First, the North and South Primary schools were 

repaired, as well as the Union and Libby Hill schools, this last 

being reopened once more.  A smallpox epidemic reduced 

attendance during the winter term of 1917, and a new school 

union with Sidney was formed as of 1 July 1918, with John S 

Tapley, from Charleston, Maine, as superintendent.  Shortly 

after, Norridgewock, Belgrade and Smithfield joined School 

Union #53. 

 

Union #53 with John S Tapley 1918-1931 

SCHOOL YEAR 1918-1919: 
 In John S Tapley's first report as the Superintendent of 

School Union 53, in the 1919 Town Report, he had a number of 

recommendations to make for the improvement of schools in the 

town.  First, and most expensive, was the need for a new high 

school to hold the Junior and Senior divisions.  He suggested that 

the lower grade building, presently on the southwest corner of 

School and Water Streets, be remodeled for the use of grades 1 

through 4, with the then high school next to the Methodist 

Church being used for grades 5 through 8.  This would go along 

with another change, to that of an 8-grade program.  He also 

suggested supervised recesses with playgrounds, the first 

mention of such in the town reports. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1919-1920: 
 By the next report, several changes had already begun to be 

made.  Increased teacher salaries were proposed, from $14.50 to 

$20 per week in order to keep teachers.  Hose House No. 1 

between the Baptist and Universalist Churches, had been 

remodeled to house a 40-pupil second grade.  Physical training 

programs and an 8 grade program were implemented.  And the 

will of Milton LaForest Williams had been probated, providing 

$25,000 for educational purposes in Maine, the executor of the 

will suggesting that the town of Oakland be the beneficiary.  In 

the same report, it was noted that George H Bryant bequeathed 

$2500 for an athletic field at the proposed new high school.  

Article 32 of that year's report proposed organizing a building 

committee for a new high school. 

 Enrollment continued to rise between 1921 and 1924: 

Grade 1921 1922 1923 1924 

High School 106 100 100 107 

8th Grade 31 44 43 45 

7th Grade 43 49 44 52 

6th Grade 39 41 49 50 

5th Grade 44 49 56 50 

4th Grade 40 46 58 45 

3rd Grade 49 55 60 40 

2nd Grade 59 54 48 34 

1st Grade 43 55 52 -- 

Union School 21 25 15 18 

Libby Hill  12 12 12 13 

Post Rooms -- -- -- 52 

Fairfield St -- -- -- 38 

TOTAL 487 530 537 544 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1920-21: 
 Superintendent Tapley pleaded that the Hose House school 

be retained for a short period of time, until the new high school 

could be built.  His rationale was that the town had already 

refitted the upstairs of this building as a school at considerable 

expense, and that if the building had to be vacated and returned 

to the fire department, the town would have to build another new 

school, or at least an addition, for still more money.  Article 44 in 

the warrant proposed that the town retain use of the Hose House 

for the time being, the article evidently not passing. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1921-22: 
 As of this year, an athletic council and a school library had 

been established at the high school.  The first grade was housed 
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in the Hose House, then moved to the Memorial Hall post rooms.  

The question of what the town was going to do with the $37,500 

which was available for a new school was answered in Articles 

29 and 30 at the town meeting.  Voters raised another $5000 for a 

new high school in Article 29; and they voted to buy land on the 

north side of what is now Pleasant Street as a site for the 

building. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1922-23: 
 The 1923 report stated that the need for repairs and new 

construction was disparate.  The high school building housed 100 

high school students upstairs and 90 7th and 8th graders 

downstairs.  The Union School was also in need of renovation.  

A building committee was established, and it recommended a 

150-student high school, of 2 stories with a basement, to be 

constructed of brick, at a cost not to exceed $75,000.  

Construction was delayed, however, as the voters passed over 

issuing bonds for construction, although they did raise another 

$5000 toward the project. 

 A plan to provide interest-free loans to Oakland students 

wishing to further their education was offered by the Alice P 

Benjamin Fund, which was accepted by the town. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1923-24: 
 Voters may well have felt pressured by town meeting time in 

1924.  A report of the building committee, given in the 1924 

Town Report noted that the executor of Milton LaForest 

William's estate, Mr. William D Chapple, advised that the town 

would have until May 1924 to begin construction on the new 

high school building, or the gift would be withdrawn.  Mr. 

George H Bryant also noted that his gift would be withdrawn 

under the same conditions.  Article 29 of that meeting finally saw 

voters passing a school bond issue of $25,000 at 4½% interest for 

high school construction, added to the $51,000 which had 

accrued from gifts and interest by that time. 

 High school principal Dean S Peacock noted in his report 

several methods which might improve the situation in Oakland's 

schools: 1 - by securing better teachers; 2 - by improving 

organization; 3 - by securing better home morale; 4 - by creating 

better community pride and interest; and 5 - by constructing a 

new high school building.  He also noted that, "While life is 

something that cannot be bought, education is something which 

can." 

 In other items in the 1924 report, it is noted that the large 

furnace in the Lower Grade building was replaced by two smaller 

furnaces improving heat in the building; also, a new fire escape 

stairway was ordered for the building's 5th and 6th grade rooms. 

 Generally, school buildings seemed to be falling into 

disrepair, and notes of false economy were made by 

Superintendent Tapley.  He noted that in the case of the painting 

of the high school building, the project was so delayed that more 

time, paint and money was spent scraping the old paint and 

repainting, than would have been expended had the repairs been 

made in a timely manner. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1924-1925: 
 Superintendent Tapley made a strong case for better pay for 

teachers in his report of 1925.  He stated that "the median salary 

for elementary schools in Maine is now $843, while that in the 

US as a whole is $1142."  Oakland was paying its teachers $800, 

and discovering that graduates of Normal Schools or teachers' 

colleges, would come to town and stay only long enough to find 

a higher-paying job elsewhere.  He recommended a minimum 

pay of $800 and a maximum of $1000 with a raise of $50 per 

year, stating that this salary compares with salaries in larger 

towns because of lower costs of living in Oakland. 

 Comparing per pupil expenditures, he reported that, of ten 

school systems comparable in size to Oakland (York, 

Kennebunk, Bridgton, Farmington, Hallowell, Camden, 

Baileyville, Jonesport, and Limestone), the average cost was 

$42.13 for elementary schools and $77.66 for secondary schools, 

while Oakland's expenditures were $35.94 and $69.10 

respectively. 

 The Oakland School Bank was introduced in the fall of 

1924, for 5th through 8th grade students.  Officers were Lois 

Warren, Cashier; Margaret Blaisdell, Asst Cashier; Ethel Calder 

and Emory Man, Tellers; and Martha Strachen, Supervisor. 

 Principal, Norman Lothrop reported that the high school 

offered three courses, College Preparatory, Commercial, and 

General or English-Scientific.  Home study was noted as an 

important adjunct to school study, but he said that quality time 

not quantity time was necessary.  He also recommended a longer 

school day, to allow for more time for supervised studying. 

 Football was dropped because it was not self-supporting; 

and basketball was dropped for lack of a suitable facility.  

Messalonskee Hall, owned by the electric street railway, had 

been used for basketball games, but the building was reduced in 

size in 1923. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1925-1926: 

 
Illus 5- Milton LaForest Williams High School 

 
 Milton LaForest Williams HS opened in September 1925, 

housing grades 8 through 12, and industrial work for 7th graders.  

This move allowed the closing of the Upper and Lower Primary 

schools, and relocation of all grades, 1 through 3 to the Lower 

Grade School, and 4 through 7 to the old High School.  Several 

grades were separated into divisions according to the abilities of 

students.  Enrollments were: First - 54; Second - 60; Third - 38; 

Fourth - 45; Fifth - 62; Sixth - 47; Seventh - 49; Eighth - 42; 

High School - 110. 

 Margaret Killman, who had been the high school physical 

director for several years, noted the return of the basketball 

program, and introduction of the "Swedish system of Physical 
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Education", with its goal of "developing the body into a 

harmonious whole." 

 
 High school principal Norman B Lothrop reported 

enrollment to be XII - 15; XI - 26; X - 27; IX - 47.  He attributed 

the increase in numbers to a differing philosophy of education 

which he called the "Double Standard."  This system graded 

students between a "70" and a "100", but grades below an "85" 

carried no comments of proficiency: 

 

 "In 1910 there were 39 pupils in Oakland High school and 

the town census showed 2,257 persons; at present there are 107 

pupils and the census of 1920, the latest available, shows 2,473 

persons resident.  Thus, the number of pupils in high school in 

Oakland has increased 174 per cent in fifteen years, while 

population increased nearly 10 per cent in the first ten years of 

that ... Thus it is shown that the increased number of students in 

high school is not due to growth in town population alone.  Most 

of the pupils constituting the extra number of students now 

would be wage-earners or loafers under the old system [which] 

acted like a sieve through which only a few could pass, and in 

whose operation many were discarded and dropped by ... Many 

of the pupils now attending high school would have dropped out 

through lack of interest and under the stigma of failure under the 

old system." 

 

 The new high school building was working out well.  Its 

arrangement resulted in no wasted space, and its facilities were a 

great improvement over the former building.  Especially noted in 

Principal Lothrop's report were the "shower baths", which 

"furnished 1500 baths to a large majority of students and to many 

citizens not students, from the beginning of the year to the date 

of this report [20 February 1926].  As the bathers furnish their 

own towels and soap, the cost to the town is very moderate." 

 Basketball began again, under the direction of Frank L 

Elliott and Margaret Killman.  Seventh and eighth graders were 

coached by Edwin Livingstone and Norman Blake of the high 

school.  In all, thirteen intramural teams were organized, thus 

making the gymnasium one of the most used parts of the new 

building. 

 Graduates of Oakland High School who were attending 

institutions of higher education were listed in the 

superintendent's report: 

FARMINGTON NORMAL SCHOOL -- Arlene Adams, 1925; 

Ruth Giberson, 1924; Lillian Kelley, 1925; Bertha Reynolds, 

1924;  

GORHAM NORMAL SCHOOL -- Blanche Clark, 1924; Anne 

Folsom, 1924; Gerald Hallett, 1925; Alice E Tapley, 1925 

UNIVERSITY OF MAINE -- Russell Bailey, 1920; Harold 

Bessey, 1925, Roger Lewis, 1923; Clarence Otis, 1923; Eugene 

Scribner, 1923; Frederick Scribner, 1924; Alfred Stevens, 1922; 

Inez Stevens, 1923 

COLBY COLLEGE -- Rosalee Mosher, 1925; Greeley Pierce, 

1923; Marjorie Pierce, 1923; Nela Sawtelle, 1923; Norris 

Sawtelle, 1923; Doris Wyman, 1925 

BOWDOIN COLLEGE -- Lloyd Fowles, 1922, Ralph Kierstead, 

1920 

HARVARD COLLEGE -- Charles Lewis, 1920 

THOMAS BUSINESS COLLEGE -- Donald Faron, 1925; 

Joseph Wilson, 1924 

 

 Superintendent Tapley noted that the opening of Williams 

HS completed a major part of a school improvement program 

begun in 1918.  His report contained a listing of 

accomplishments since that year: 

 "The erection and opening of the Milton LaForest Williams 

HS completes the major part of a program of school 

improvements which had its beginning back in the year 1918.  

Therefore it may not be out of place at this time to make mention 

of some of the changes which have taken place along school 

lines during my administration as your superintendent.  Whatever 

has been done either administrative or otherwise has been carried 

out on a constructive basis and has tended toward an objective 

that would modernize the school plant and give the children of 

Oakland better and more sanitary school conditions, and meet the 

competition of other school systems.  Following are some of the 

changes which have been made: 

 1 - Reorganizing of the grades so that each grade might have 

a separate teacher. 

 2 - Elimination of the ninth grade and organizing the school 

on an 8-4 grade basis to conform to the standards outlined in the 

State Course of Study. 

 3 - The introduction of a Physical Training program and the 

employment of a full time teacher in this work, both in the grades 

and in the rural schools. 

 4 - The organizing of a high school Alumni Association. 

 5 - An increase in teachers' wages. 

 Avg Salary 1917 1926 

(a) Elementary, $12.20 $21.90 

(b) Secondary, Women, $14.81 $27.78 

(c) Secondary, Men, $36.00 $55.55 

 6 - Full time teachers both in Manual Training and Home 

Economics and extending this work to the rural schools and the 

first two years of the high school. 

 7 - Reduction of the number of pupils per grade to 

approximate thirty five pupils. 

 8 - The introduction of departmental teaching into all grades 

except the First and Third grades. 

 9 - Creating of a permanent high school fund whereby 

worthy pupils of our high school may be assisted and encouraged 

to follow a higher education.  This fund of $500 is received 

annually from the Wing-Benjamin estate.  Thus far six pupils 

have been assisted. 

 10 - To improve the teaching force and assist in carrying out 

the slogan of the State, "A Trained Teacher in Every School by 

1930."  Of fourteen elementary teachers employed at present, 

nine are graduates of a Normal school and four others have 

recently taken or are taking school extension work. 

 11 - The formation of a local Teachers' Association. 

 12 - The incorporation of a school savings bank, which is 

under the supervision of the Oakland Branch of the Augusta 

Trust Company. 

 13 - The erection and opening of the Milton LaForest 

Williams HS to pupils of the senior high school and the eighth 

grades." 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1926-1927: 
 Superintendent Tapley strongly emphasized the need for 

homework during this school year.  He noted that "the work of 

the school is not easy, at best, and the results that the child 
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obtains are always in direct proportion to the real work and effort 

that he puts into it."  Mr. Tapley recommended homework in 

seventh and eighth grades, and also mentioned that homework in 

sixth grade would not be harmful. 

 Williams HS added an additional teacher, Mr. Verne 

Reynolds, to take some of the English load.  Mr. Reynolds, it was 

noted, accepted the position at a low salary. 

 Salaries were a major topic of concern during this school 

year.  Mr. Tapley stated that the $800 maximum and minimum 

salary paid to Oakland teachers "is not a living wage for the 

teacher and it is only by the strictest economy that she can pay 

her necessary expenses."  He added that "a teacher who serves 

successfully year after year is worth more to the town every year 

and should receive a substantial increase up to a reasonable limit.  

If we make a practice of employing inexperienced teachers or 

those who have been discarded from other systems at a minimum 

state wage and allow this amount to be the maximum wage of 

our strong experienced teachers, we shall eventually lose the best 

teachers, our work will be non-progressive and non-productive, 

and the children are the ones to suffer."  Tapley recommended a 

salary scale of $800-$1000 for teachers, and $1500-1700 for the 

sub-master. 

 In other matters, Tapley informed townspeople that chemical 

toilets had been installed in the Libby Hill school, and general 

repairs had been made.  In December of 1926, the school in the 

Union district burned, at a total loss.  The Advent chapel was 

used for a temporary school until a new building could be erected 

which Tapley estimated at $3500-$4000. 

 The Oakland Elementary Teachers' Association was active 

again in 1926-27, with Mrs. Martha Gagne as president.  

Fourteen meetings were planned, with speakers, curriculum 

development, and socials.  There had been a similar earlier 

organization in the late 1800's, the records of which were 

deposited in the town library in the 1950's. 

 Principal Norman Lothrop noted an enrollment of 144 

students, an increase of 22% over the previous year.  Williams 

HS now offered 4 years of English, 2 years of French, 4 years of 

Latin, 3 years of history, 3½ years of mathematics, 7 years of 

commercial work, 4 years of science, 1 year of industrial arts, 

and ½ year of household arts.  The college preparatory course 

required 2 years of either French or Latin, 2 years of history, 2 

years of science, 4 years of English, and 3½ years of 

mathematics. 

 The dropout rate was higher than the state average.  Of the 

class of 1926, 12 of 28 graduated, or 43%.  Of the class to 

graduate in 1927, slightly over 50% remained as compared to the 

number which entered in 1923. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1927-1928: 
 Both Superintendent Tapley and High School Principal 

Lothrop stressed the shortage of equipment necessary in the 

commercial and industrial programs at the high school.  Tapley 

stated that unless five more typewriters were purchased, students 

would have to be dropped from typing classes; and that the 

industrial course was no less important than the other courses in 

the school.  He recommended the introduction of power 

machinery in a five-year plan, so that the shop would be fully 

equipped by 1933. 

 The transfer of the B division of the 7th grade was made 

necessary by increased enrollments at the high school.  This 7th 

grade class was moved to the Old High School, and Tapley 

recommended that a male teacher be hired to teach and supervise 

at that school, to avoid the "many cases of discipline which have 

seemed inevitable [which] would not have arisen among the boys 

had they the supervision and authority of a male teacher over 

them," a statement which would not be tolerated at the present 

time. 

 Tapley also reported that the rebuilt Union school had been 

completed, and that the building was "modern in every respect, 

viz.: electric lights, chemical toilets, jacketed heater, slate 

blackboards, adjustable seats, banking boards and ample lighting 

from the north side only." 

 In the high school report, Principal Lothrop explained the 

courses of study and graduation requirements in each, beginning 

with the Class of 1930: 

 College Preparatory - passing grades in 4 years of language 

other than English, three years of mathematics, one year of lab 

science; average of 80 in all subjects, with failures in none. 

 Commercial - average grade of 80 in all subjects and 85 in 

commercial subjects. 

 General (with distinction) - average of 80 in all subjects, 

failures in none. 

 General - all other students not falling in any of the other 

three categories. 

 In addition to the above, promotion was explained.  In order 

to be promoted from Grade 9 to Grade 10, a student must have 

earned 3 points; from Grade 10 to Grade 11, 6 points; from 

Grade 11 to Grade 12, 10 points; and for graduation, 15 points.  

A point was earned by averaging 70 or better in a class which 

met 5 times per week. 

 Extra-curricular activities had been expanded by this time.  

Mr. Frank L Elliot coached boys' basketball, and Miss Margaret 

Killman coached girls' basketball.  Gerald C Hallett coached 

other teams as well. Tennis courts were being constructed, and an 

interest in baseball was mentioned. 

 Lothrop pleaded for an increase in staff, either an 

English/history teacher, or a commercial assistant in order to 

cope with increased enrollments expected to be 165 by Fall of 

1928. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1928-1929: 
 Educating out-of-town students became a major concern 

during this year.  Superintendent Tapley pointed out that to 

exclude these students which some townspeople believed were 

costing Oakland taxpayers money would not decrease the costs 

of education, since the tuition paid by out-of-town students was 

based on the cost of their education anyway.  Tuition was first set 

at $45, then raised to $60.  In 1927-28, $75 was charged. 

 If out-of-town students were not allowed, the number of 

students would of course decrease; however, the cost of 

providing the necessary teaching, janitorial staff and building 

expenses would not lessen, since the town would still have to 

provide services to its own students. 

 Economics also suggested that it was good to educate 

tuitioned students.  "The thirty pupils now in attendance 

represent more than twenty of the best homes in Sidney, Rome, 

Smithfield, Fairfield and other neighboring towns.  Many of 

these families do a large part of their business in Oakland and 

contribute liberally to the social expense of the town and school." 



 20 

 
 Increases in enrollment meant the hiring of an additional 

first grade teacher and another high school teacher at a total cost 

of $1900. 

 Relating attendance directly to achievement, Tapley said that 

"if parents are indifferent as to whether the child ranks well or 

not, whether he is late at school or on time, whether he performs 

the home work that is assigned, whether he keeps good company, 

uses correct language, is properly clothed and fed -- I say if the 

parents are indifferent to these things, the child will imitate the 

same attitude, his work will become a grind and his school days 

will be robbed of their pleasure and profit." 

 Tapley reported on the progress of athletics; basketball had 

been emphasized since the Williams facility was best suited to 

that sport, but tennis and baseball were also played extensively.  

The tennis courts were constructed in the summer of 1928 and, 

Tapley added, had been in nearly constant use during the fall.  He 

asked the town to appropriate more money for fields so that 

another tennis court and a baseball diamond might be constructed 

at Bryant Field. 

 Principal Lothrop reported on enrollment, up to 181, 33 

more than the previous year, divided thus:  Grade XII - 30; Grade 

XI - 51; Grade X - 36; Grade XI - 64.  Enrollment by course was: 

General - 71; Commercial - 62; College Preparatory - 40. 

 Oakland was still an important agricultural town at this time, 

so it made sense when a course in agriculture was added in 

January 1929, with 12 boys in attendance.  The State Department 

of Education had organized the class and furnished the teacher 

and textbooks. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1929-1930: 
 The cooperation of the town road crews in removing snow 

from the sidewalks was a highlight of Tapley's report in February 

1930.  Through their efforts, he said "children have been able to 

arrive at school dry shod, even in stormy weather," also noting 

that "ploughed" roads had a direct bearing on school attendance. 

 He explained the new pension law, which was to go into 

effect in September 1930.  Teachers who began teaching during 

the 1924-25 school year were to pay 5% of their salaries, not to 

exceed $100, into the retirement fund.  The state matched the 

money, and the interest on the fund would pay teachers' pensions 

after 25, 30 or 35 years' service on retirement at age 60. 

 Principal Lothrop noted enrollment at 181, the same as 

1928-29, with 48 in Grade XII, 31 in Grade XI, 52 in Grade X, 

and 50 in Grade IX.  By town, enrollment was: Oakland, 146; 

Sidney, 18; Rome, 10; Belgrade, 3; Fairfield, 2; Smithfield, 1; 

and Moxie, 1. 

 He also commented on the problems faced trying to arrange 

a graduation for over 40 students, since Memorial Hall only 

seated 350 people, at the same time mentioning that the building 

was being used to capacity. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1930-1931: 
 The Depression had struck the US, but not Oakland schools.  

Tapley commented that "politics and speculation have no place 

in the schools."  He also mentioned that other towns in the area 

had been increasing spending on roads at the expense of the 

schools, but that this was not happening in Oakland. 

 However, the Depression would have an effect soon.  

Commissioner of Education Packard wrote Tapley "that the 

amount of the State school fund for distribution, December, 

1931, will for various reasons decrease about 6%," which meant 

a cut in state funding of about $300. 

 Also teachers in Oakland who had not had recent education 

training were required to attend summer school during the 

summer of 1931 in order to be retained by the town.  The course 

would cost $50, and teachers were given a $50 raise to cover the 

cost. 

 High school enrollment was 29 in Grade XII, 44 in Grade 

XI, 35 in Grade X; and 58 in Grade IX, for a total of 166. 

 Lothrop lectured on the need for teaching thrift and 

economy.  "Much of the present industrial and business 

depression is caused from waste and bad management.  Large 

sums of money are constantly being wasted and in too many 

homes the distress and poverty is caused from poor budgeting or 

from no budget at all."  Installment buying, charge accounts and 

time payments, he said, were "wasteful and should be 

discouraged."  The Depression had hit whether the town realized 

it or not. 

 Salaries for staff were listed, as they had been and would 

continue to be in many future reports.  At $2700, principal 

Norman Lothrop was the highest paid.  Sub-master J Harland 

Morse received $1400; Paulenah Simmons, Miriam Hurd, Alice 

Brown and Ruth Rogers at the high school, were paid $1100; 

elementary teachers, nearly regardless of experience, were paid 

$850, the list including Martha Gagne (grade 8), Elizabeth Hills 

(grades 7 and 8), Masey Gordon (grade 7), Gertrude Davis (grade 

6), Clara Stevens (grade 5), Ruth Perry (grade 4), Minerva Hall 

(grade 3), Welthea Richardson (grade 2), and Evelyn Stevenson 

(grade 1).  Edith Grover at the Libby Hill school was paid $800 

probably because she had taken courses recently and therefore 

didn't share in the $50 raise many others received.  Clarissa 

Wheeler at the Union school was paid $720; Anna Morse, 

domestic science teacher, earned $850; Albert Barlow, manual 

training teacher, was paid $1200; Margaret Killman, physical 

training teacher, received $1100; Florence Wells, music teacher, 

was paid $650. 

 Incidentally, enrollments for each teacher were also listed.  

They ranged, in the elementary schools, from Minerva Hall's 

grade 3 class of 56 and Evelyn Stevenson's 1st grade class of 55, 

to Edith Grover's Libby Hill School class of 21, with other 

grades having 28 (8), 47 (7), 41 (6), 32 (5), 34 (4), 47 (2), and 22 

(Union School). 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1931-1932: 
 The annual reports of John Sidney Tapley, Superintendent, 

came to an end when he died on 25 February 1932, but the 

dedication appearing on page 43 of the 1931-32 Town Report is 

worthy of quotation: 

 

 Superintendent John S. Tapley went to his long home on 

the morning of February 25.  In accordance with his 

customary forethought and punctuality he had practically 

completed his fourteenth annual financial statements and 

arranged for the departmental reports also presented 

herewith. 

 In his passing we of the staff recognize the loss of a 

great and true companion and friend.  In his labor among us 

his contacts were more those of an older counselor and co-

worker than of a superior authority and he had the rare gift 

to dispel clouds and instill fresh spirit when the way became 
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tedious and the burdens irksome.  His unusual ability to 

grasp a problem in its entirety and think it thru to a 

conclusion that would conserve the interests of the child, his 

parents, the school, and the community, won him much 

deserved credit in his field of labor.  At home in almost any 

situation, he was called upon on numerous occasions to lead 

programs, to stand at the helm of civic organizations, to 

sponsor worthwhile community activities and interpret them 

to the public, and he responded generously with time and 

strength to these calls.  In his everyday life he calls to mind 

the famous saying attributed to Lincoln, "God must have 

loved the common people, he made so many of them."  No 

man in want ever turned empty handed at his door.  Surely 

he has given us a mark at which to aim and an example in 

simplicity of living to live up to. 

 The ideal that inspired his work was that every boy and 

every girl should receive an education to the limit of his 

ability and willingness to learn.  He held the elements of the 

good life: Fair-mindedness, consideration for others, 

meeting obligations squarely, good sportsmanship, were 

more important than subject matter and were to be presented 

in precept, example, and practice in all classroom teaching.  

It is, indeed, a bright torch he hands us. 

 To the memory of John Tapley, who was our friend, this 

page is gratefully dedicated. 

 

 The fact that his was the first dedication of any type, and the 

first photograph in any of the town reports, is a testament to the 

high esteem in which Tapley was held by the town of Oakland.  

This esteem would soon be seen, as well, in the naming of a new 

school. 

 High school enrollment was down to 155 by the middle of 

1931, and 157 by the middle of 1932.  Most losses in enrollment 

were in Grade IX, and general attendance was down due to colds 

and measles. 

 The room formerly used as a library had become a 

classroom; during 1931-32 it once more operated as a library, 

with a magazine exchange club being organized, and a student 

Library Committee becoming active. 

 Principal Lothrop commented, "the fact that the operation of 

a good high school contributes to an increased cost of 

government is not to be denied, but we must be awake to the 

equally true proposition that failure to meet the needs of the high 

school adequately will be reflected in decreased advantages 

offered our boys and girls, as compared with those offered by 

other progressive communities.  We may take our choice whether 

to pay or have our successors less well prepared to meet the 

increasingly complicated problems of living in an age of 

continual and rapid change such as ours is and will continue to 

be."  Evidently, the school budget was feeling the pinch of the 

Depression, then entering its most cruel year, 1932.  Many 

educators alive at that time must have been worried that the gains 

made by the town under the stewardship of John Tapley would 

be lost due to the economic collapse of the country, as reflected 

in the town and state. 

 

Union 53 after John Tapley 1932 - 1945 

SCHOOL YEAR 1932-1933: 
 Winfield F Packard made his first, which was to be his only, 

report in 1933.  He noted that since Oakland's municipal tax rate 

and school tax rate dropped below the state average, $692.84 in 

state funding was lost.  In addition, other funds totaling $542.19 

were lost due to state cutbacks in funding for Manual Training, 

Domestic Science, and Physical Education. 

 At the same time, he noted that "if the same conditions, as to 

school attendance prevailed today, as in 1920, nearly two million 

young people in this country would be added to the list of 

unemployed," arguing that lack of increased school enrollments 

were partly due to the Depression and lack of jobs. 

 Enrollment at the high school was 162.  By class, that was 

Grade XII, 29; Grade XI, 43; Grade X, 30; Grade IX, 75; Post 

graduate, 3.  By town, the figures were Oakland, 125; Sidney, 17; 

Rome, 12; Smithfield, 4; Belgrade, 3; and Fairfield, 1. 

 Repairs to the high school were of an energy-conservation 

nature -- weather-stripping, lighting, and other improvements.  

Miss Hildegarde K Rogers, Home Economics teacher, initiated a 

program of hot dishes for those students eating at school, under 

the control of two high school students.  As part of the 

curriculum, these students get "practical experience in food 

buying, large quantity cookery, serving, cleaning the laboratory 

and the keeping of simple accounts."  The cost per student was 

$.08 per week.  Also, the Home Economics course was changed 

somewhat, to include care and repair of clothing, a sure sign of 

the Depression's effect on school curricula. 

 In the Manual Training high school class, Albert H Barlow 

noted the increased productivity of classes with the introduction 

of power machinery, particularly the lathe and the sanding 

machine.  Students experienced practicality, as several of their 

projects resulted in improvements to the shop itself. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1933-1934: 
 Winfield Packard lasted as superintendent only one year, so 

new superintendent, Ivan E Adams, notes the progress of the 

Depression in his first report, finding several effects:  (1) 

students were staying in school longer due to the lack of jobs 

available; (2) budgets had been cut in every area; (3) more 

interest was being shown in vocational education; and (4) state 

funding had been cut.  He divided the school dollar distribution 

thus: Common schools, 4.6%; High school, 29.4%; Industrial 

Education, 5.9%; Physical Education, 2.7%; Textbooks, 2.7%; 

Supplies and insurance, 7.9%; Repairs, 2.9%; and Miscellaneous, 

2.5%.  He also remarked that 58% of the total expenditures were 

for teacher salaries, and also mentioned that the cost of school 

supplies had risen dramatically. 

 The cooperation of CWA officials in refinishing the interiors 

of all schools was mentioned as a much needed, but financially 

impossible project, which could not have been completed 

without such aid. 

 He called for the introduction of a sub-primary grade, which, 

he felt, would lessen the problem of over placement -- students 

who were not ready for the work of the grade in which they were 

placed; but he stopped short of any comparison with previous 

years, as this was his first year as superintendent. 

 High school principal Lothrop, however, presented his tenth 

report to the town.  He mentioned the extra emphasis on English 

teaching, and the cooperation of the Oakland Public Library in 
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assisting students.  Advanced Latin and shorthand were 

discontinued, due to heavy teaching schedules and small 

enrollments in those classes.  He did call for adding books in 

science, social studies, and English, as well as magazines to the 

school library. 

 Enrollment was up 12 over the previous year, to 174, of 

whom 46 were tuition students from Rome, Smithfield, Belgrade, 

Peru, Somerville, and Alexander.  He fails to mention Sidney, 

although it should be assumed that there were a number of 

students from that town at Williams HS.  Athletics were slightly 

curtailed due to lower income, but "more than half the members 

of the student body participated in some form of athletics." 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1934-1935: 
 Despite rapidly changing economic conditions, and spending 

plans gone awry, the school department closed its books with a 

surplus.  Extra economies included the closing of the Libby Hill 

School, and the conveyance of those students to village schools, 

saving the town well over $450.  Also buses were doing double 

duty, resulting in a $400 savings, although the routes were 

somewhat less convenient than in past years. 

 Superintendent Adams mentioned that an extensive repair 

program was carried out under the federal National Recovery 

Administration: a new asphalt shingle roof was put on the 

Primary building, and the heating system were rearranged to 

make heating more efficient and less costly; repairs and additions 

at the High school were also made. 

 Adams noted that several problems still remained.  Large 

enrollment, students who were unprepared for or unable to 

handle the work assigned, and the inability to handle large 

numbers of retentions, were all mentioned as significant 

problems.  A sub-primary grade was added in the spring of 1934, 

which Adams believed would eventually mitigate the problem of 

pupils who were unable to handle the assigned work, and would 

therefore lower the number of necessary retentions. 

 Third grade pupils were moved to the Grammar school, and 

the seventh grade returned to Williams during 1934-35, but this 

was to be considered only a one year plan, since increased 

enrollments at Williams anticipated for 1935-36 would 

necessitate the return of the 7th grade to the grammar school as 

in the past. 

 Principal Lothrop noted that Williams HS enrollment was 

145 as of the middle of the year, due to a large graduating class 

in 1934 and a small entering class in Fall 1935.  Enrollments 

would be closer to normal the following year.  Oakland 

represented 113 students, Sidney 16, Rome 10, Smithfield 2, 

Fairfield 2, Belgrade 1, and Somerville 1.  By grade, there were 

41 Freshmen, 48 Sophomores, 40 Juniors, 15 Seniors and 1 Post 

Graduate student. 

 A second year of manual training and home economics was 

added for high school students, and the library was enlarged with 

books borrowed from the Maine State Library; 17 magazines 

were purchased. 

 Repairs and additions to the building included installation of 

drawers, shelves and cupboards in the laboratory; drawer and 

shelf space in the office and some classrooms; weather-stripping 

windows in two more rooms; caulking; repointing of the bricks; 

drainage of the athletic field; and a new tennis court. 

 Athletics, a senior play, prize speaking contests and several 

clubs all played a prominent part in the social life of Williams 

HS but Lothrop called for even more activities, to include drama, 

debate, and a science and a math club. 

 The need for a school physician was also mentioned, so as to 

provide for health education, examinations and remedial work to 

be done by the physical directors. 

 Teachers, with other information, were listed as follows: 

 

Name, Position, Experience, In Town, Trning, Salary 
Lothrop, Norman, principal 19 11 5 2070 

Morse, J Harland, submaster 5 5 4 1242 

Brown, Alice, English, French 11 7 4 910 

Leighton, Barbara, commercial 5 1 3 828 

Simmins, Helen, Eng, Lat, Anc Hist 2 2 4 910 

Hills, Elizabeth, Gr 8-7 15.5 8 1 720 

Tapley, Marion L, 8-7 10 9 2 720 

Riley, Madeline, 6 9 1 2.5 720 

Stevens, Clara, 5 29.5 28.5 .5 720 

Perry, Ruth, 4 10 8 2 720 

Wheeler, Clarissa, 3 5 5 2 720 

Richardson, Welthea, 2 13 10 1 720 

Mayo, Amy, 1 5 2 3 720 

McGown, Audrey, Sub-primary 7.5 1 2 720 

Hodges, Faylene, music 6 1 5 450 

Killman, Margaret, phys ed 9 9 3 720 

Barlow, Albert, ind arts 5 5 3 1049.76 

Mosher, Laura, home ec 1 1 4 648 

Robinson, Vivian, Union School 3 3 2 612 

 Teachers were staying longer than they were earlier in the 

century, and in fact only one totally new teacher out of a total 

staff of 19, Laura Mosher, had been hired. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1935-1936: 
 Superintendent Adams in this year included only those items 

which were of a general nature, due to purposes of economy, 

another effect of the Depression.  Therefore, the specialized 

reports of music, industrial arts, commercial subjects, home 

economics and physical education were not included, breaking a 

tradition of many years. 

 The intermediate grade system was reorganized, and a 

departmental system was implemented in grades four, five, and 

six.  Adams announced that at least one extra teacher was needed 

for these grades, in view of class sizes of 45 to 50 under one 

teacher. 

 Repairs and remodeling of Williams included continued 

weatherization; additional storage space for building materials 

and a boys' locker room, which were located in an area excavated 

under the stage; and a drying room and paint shop.  Repairs 

needed at the upper grade building included renovation of the 

heating plant. 

 The high school reported increased opportunity in music, 

industrial arts, dramatics and public speaking.  The addition of a 

new teacher, Clayton R Cronkite, made physical training and 

athletics more available.  Also this report contained the first 

mention of a junior prom. 

 Enrollment was 155 in grades 9 through 12, with 251 for the 

entire building.  By grade, the breakdown was: VII, 50; VIII, 46; 

IX, 45; X, 28; XI, 46; and XII, 36, with another increase 

expected the following year. 

 The "Messalonskee Ripple", which had been published for 

nine years, listed the present status of the 249 prior graduates of 

Williams HS: 

Housewives - 55 Teaching 
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Factory workers - 38  Elementary - 10 

Secretary/Accounting - 17  High School - 3 

Store Clerks - 15  College - 2 

Laborers - 14 Apprentices - 2 

At Home - 14 Engineering - 3 

Nurses - 9 Truck Drivers - 3 

Farmers - 7 Store Proprietors - 2 

In College Mechanics - 3 

 U of Maine - 7 Hotel Employees - 2 

 Colby - 6 Army - 2 

 Out of Maine - 5 C.C.C. - 1 

Business - 4 Newspapermen - 1 

Normal Schools - 5 Ill - 1 

Preparatory Schools - 1 Other Occupations - 8 

Hospital Training - 2 Deceased - 2 

Salesmen - 5 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1936-1937: 
 Several happenings during this school year attest to the 

changing times for schools in Oakland.   Superintendent 

Adams noted that the town would save $300 during a complete 

fiscal year because students living on the Waterville Road would 

be conveyed by bus, rather than the electric railway, which 

ceased providing transportation in November 1936.  The 

Waterville, Fairfield and Oakland Street Railway was to cease all 

operations in October 1937. 

 Adams listed new equipment added, including new desks, 

gas burner equipment for the laboratory, industrial equipment, 

hot plates for home economics, and textbooks.  He stated that 

much remained to be done, however, including improvements in 

physical equipment, desks, reference books and maps, and 

teacher salaries.  Many vacancies in small towns were going 

unfilled, due to higher paying jobs being available in larger 

towns.  He noted that "there are many teachers who desire to 

attend summer sessions to better fit themselves for the work 

which they are doing but whose salaries will not allow the 

expenditure." 

 High school enrollment was up again.  By grade, enrollment 

was: XII, 41; XI, 20; X, 37; IX, 61; VIII, 50; VII, 47. . Principal 

Lothrop hoped that someday a room could be used just for a 

library, rather than for teaching.  He stated the need for 

additional space for classrooms, the gymnasium, manual training, 

and home arts.  The original curtains on the south side of the 

building were replaced, and bleachers were added along one side 

of the gym. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1937-1938: 
 Kermit S Nickerson became Superintendent during this 

school year.  His report noted many of the same goals and 

problems faced by prior superintendents. 

 A teacher shortage was evident, with six new teachers 

employed; a testing program was implemented in the elementary 

grades; a number of unmotivated students were a concern, 

Nickerson mentioning that close cooperation between parent and 

student would accomplish more than teacher inspiration and 

encouragement; and enrollment was up in the sub-primary class, 

resulting in the closing of the Union school and the transfer of 

the teacher to the Water Street building. 

 The School Committee recommended that the Union School 

remain closed, but Nickerson warned that $750 would have to be 

added to the budget if the Committee's recommendation was 

overturned.  In the same vein, he suggested that many of the 

buildings were in poor condition, with high enrollment, and that 

"some constructive, forward looking plan should be adopted to 

improve these conditions."  His plans would shortly bear fruit. 

 The repair budget included painting of windows and doors at 

Williams, installing a new water heater and shingling of the roof 

of the old high school, and pur6chasing needed desks. 

 High School principal Lothrop, in his fourteenth annual 

report, has a number of statistics to offer.  Enrollment was: PG, 

2; XII, 17; XI, 31; X, 55; IX, 53; VIII, 47; VII, 57, for a total of 

262, which was five over the capacity of the building.  There 

would be a larger entering class and smaller graduating class for 

1938-39.  Enrollment by curricula showed 64 taking the General 

course, 31 taking the College Preparatory course, and 63 taking 

the Commercial course. 

 Changes at Williams included beginning the school day at 

8:40 instead of 9:00, which enabled the school to offer 45 minute 

"recitation periods".  One result of an earlier day was an increase 

in tardiness, which Lothrop said would adjust itself in time.  

Science was introduced into the 8th grade curriculum; house 

planning was added to the advanced drafting class; and the 

serving of hot dishes by the home economics classes was 

continued though an additional stove and more equipment was 

needed.  Increases in library holdings brought the library up to 

standard, and magazine subscriptions had increased.  A student 

newspaper, "The Eagle", was introduced in 1937. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1938-1939: 
 Teacher retention was better than the previous year, only one 

person having to be replaced.  Twelve teachers furthered their 

education with travel or schooling, representing 60% of the entire 

staff of twenty. 

 The major accomplishment according to Superintendent 

Nickerson was the beginning of construction on a new 

elementary school, which would be named the John S. Tapley 

School, designed to replace the two buildings being used at that 

time.  The new building was a Federal Public Works Project, 

which meant that 45%, or $29,250, of the $65,000 cost was paid 

by the federal government. The building committee of Francis 

Thwing, Marion L Tapley, Daniel M Marshall, Harold York and 

Harold Bridges, worked long and hard, coming up with a plan for 

a two story plus basement, 60 by 100 foot building of 11 

classrooms for accommodating about 400 students.  The building 

was planned to be one of the most up to date buildings in Maine, 

and was expected to be occupied in September, 1939. 

 In the elementary area, a dental clinic was begun, with a 

number of organizations contributing funding. 

 Norman Lothrop's fifteenth report had enrollment figures 

which equaled the previous record, 181 in the upper four grades.  

Broken down, the figures were 29 Seniors, 49 Juniors, 41 

Sophomores, 62 Freshman, 46 Eighth graders and 45 Seventh 

graders, for a total of 272, 15 over building capacity, including 

49 tuition students. 

 Changes in the curriculum were also mentioned.  Civics was 

introduced, and the existing half year courses in US history and 

civics became full year courses of US History and Problems of 

American Democracy; trigonometry and solid geometry were 

discontinued; a boys' glee club of 30 students was organized, and 

the school orchestra was enlarged. 
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 Enrollment was up, Lothrop said, because "of pupils who a 

few years ago would have been employed in industry or farming 

and who are only mildly interested in or able to profit from 

intense study of academic subjects on an intellectual level," and 

he warned of "safeguarding lives and property from untrained 

youth with no constructive outlet for its tremendous energies and 

free time." 

 He suggested that something be done to cover the original 

plaster in classrooms which was beginning to crack and separate, 

though he stopped short of criticizing the original workmanship.  

He also listed new equipment which had been installed in the 

shop and gymnasium. 

 The National Youth Administration was mentioned as 

having provided employment for 8 students.  Administrative 

demands on the principal had increased, and an additional 

teacher especially in the English area, was requested.  Lothrop 

also requested the ability to darken the gymnasium for the 

showing of movies, thereby adding "visual education to our other 

tools." 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1939-1940: 

 
Illus 6 - John S Tapley School 

 

 The obvious highlight of the year was the occupation of the 

John S Tapley School in September, 1939, by grades S-P through 

7, thus providing Oakland's elementary students with "the most 

favorable circumstances in surroundings that conform to 

accepted standards of heating, lighting and sanitation."  The new 

building also relieved overcrowding at Williams, centralized 

students in two buildings instead of spreading them out all over 

town, and enabled the town to close all other schools over 16 

years old.  The era of the one room schoolhouse was over. 

 Williams High, in what was to be Lothrop's final report as 

principal, held 42 Seniors, 38 Juniors, 48 Sophomores, 51 

Freshmen, 1 Post-graduate, and 48 Eighth graders, with Seventh 

graders from Tapley School coming to Williams for physical 

education, manual training and home economics. 

 One English teacher was freed for a period a day to run the 

library and supervise a group of student aides, which helped to 

make the library a more useful place in which to work.  As far as 

the building went, Lothrop suggested a maintenance plan to 

renovate one or two rooms per year, adding more equipment to 

the home economics lab, resurfacing the tennis courts which had 

been little used recently due to the rough surface, and rearranging 

the shop to provide room for metal working. 

 The "Messalonskee Ripple" again provided a breakdown of 

alumni by occupation: 

Homemakers - 76 Ordinary Labor - 58 

Semi-skilled Labor - 19 Skilled Labor - 6 

Business Management/ Office Work - 23 

Farming - 27 College Teaching - 3 

Public Service - 8 College Students - 26 

Public School Teaching - 6 Engineers - 1 

Normal School Students - 19 Unknown - 11 

Unemployed - 16 Deceased - 1 

 Out of the 300 Williams HS alumni over the previous 10 

years, 26 were in college, 7 started college, 19 had graduated 

from or were enrolled at normal schools, 27 had completed 

business school, 10 had finished nurse training, 17 had 

completed other training, and 3 had begun courses, for a total of 

134, or 44.7% of graduates, a rather impressive number, 

considering the economics of the time and the area. 

 Lothrop also noted that the boys' basketball squad was 

participating in state competition for the third year in a row.  As 

Oakland schools entered the 1940's, despite war clouds in Europe 

and Asia, things were looking very bright indeed. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1940-1941: 
 Superintendent Nickerson listed that four years English, four 

years Social Science, four years Natural Science, four years 

Math, four years Commercial, four years Home Economics or 

Manual Training, two years Latin, French, Vocal music, 

instrumental music, PE were available.  In manual education, 

sheet metal was now offered, although the agriculture course had 

been dropped since the state declined to reimburse local schools 

for teaching it. 

 Four new teachers were hired at Williams, indicating that the 

national defense was taking people who might have become 

teachers; Nickerson expected the situation to persist as long as 

"unsettled conditions" continue.  Although enrollment at 

Williams was roughly unchanged, increases at Tapley School 

required the hiring of a new teacher there. 

 "Health Activities" were highlighted, to include the third 

year of a dental care program, and the furnishing of milk to 

"underweight and undernourished" children, as well as inclusion 

of a hot lunch for children who were bused.  Thanks were given 

to numerous town organizations for their assistance. 

 Budget considerations, and unexpected expenses consumed 

a major part of Nickerson's report.  State aid decreased over the 

past few years, and the problem of running a school system on 

reduced funds worried the superintendent. 

 New Williams principal, Earle McKeen, reported enrollment 

at: Grade VIII, 35; Grade IX, 47; Grade X, 41; Grade XI, 44; and 

Grade XII, 30.  A new period was added to the school day for 

music, dramatics, club meetings, assemblies, and other extra-

curricular items.  Attendance was 92.1% of enrollment, and the 

help of parents was sought on the issue of school attendance. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1941-1942: 
 Superintendent Nickerson again noted difficulty in replacing 

teachers due to defense and, after December 7, 1941, war issues.  

Enrollment at Tapley School was at its peak, and Nickerson said 

that further increases would be a problem for the town. 

 He listed numerous defense activities including the sale of 

Defense Saving Stamps, volunteer teaching in citizenship 
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classes, diet and nutrition instruction, construction of model 

airplanes for the Army and Navy, and teacher volunteers as Air 

Observers, Air Raid Wardens, and other positions. 

 Increases in budget items were due to the hiring of two new 

elementary teachers, and a decrease in tuition reimbursement. 

 Williams principal, McKeen, noted that only three boys had 

left school to work.  Enrollment was: Seniors 29, Juniors 33, 

Sophomores 39, Freshmen 45, Eighth Grade 42, Post-graduates 

2.  In instruction, the new motion picture projector saw much 

use, and the resurfacing of the tennis courts added that sport to 

the physical education program. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1942-1943: 
 Hiring trained teachers, two at Tapley and two at Williams, 

was a major problem as the war absorbed manpower, and low 

teacher salaries compared with other occupations drew others 

away from education. 

 Wartime regulations on conveying students would mean that 

students arriving on the three buses and in the two private cars 

used would experience changes.  Regulations stated that 

transportation would be available for students who live more 

than two miles away, or who live "more than a mile and a half on 

a side road to a school bus route," with exceptions made for 

students living along bus routes provided that no additional miles 

were driven. 

 In order to increase teachers' salaries by 10%, Nickerson 

requested increases of $1200 and $800 in the Common School 

and High School accounts respectively. 

 Enrollment was: Seniors 23, Juniors 28, Sophomores 36, 

Freshmen 61, Grade Eight 34, Grade Seven (one class) 24.  

McKeen noted that 234 different pupils had registered to attend, 

three withdrew (lack of transportation), five transferred, two left 

for college, and seven left school to work. 

 Curriculum was strongly defense-oriented, including 

emphasis on citizenship, current events, job training.  New 

courses in pre-flight aeronautics, mathematics, electricity, and 

Morse Code were added.  War activities included the collection 

of 28 tons of scrap metal, training in first aid and the air raid 

warden service, and the sale of war stamps.  Once more, parents 

were urged to become aware of what was going on in the 

schools. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1943-1944: 
 Once more, war effects were felt in Oakland.  Teacher 

shortages, and students leaving school to work and enter the 

service were negative effects; salvage of materials, sale of war 

stamps and bonds, and the addition of a course in Production and 

Processing of Food were positive effects. 

 A new program, standardized testing in elementary reading, 

showed that Oakland students compared favorably with their 

national peers. 

 Post-war education, Nickerson noted, will be a more varied 

vocational education; provision should be made, possibly in the 

Old High School building for such programs, both for students 

and adults. 

 Manpower shortages meant that major repairs or renovations 

could not be made, but a new concrete sidewalk on Heath Street 

was constructed which was both attractive and useful. 

 Teacher salaries, though up over previous years, still 

suffered in comparison to other communities and other 

occupations. 

 Williams HS opened with a 10% decrease, partly because 

three students entered the service, and eleven left school to work.  

Franklin Downie left to join the Navy in January, 1944, and was 

replaced with Joseph Marshall; otherwise, the teaching staff 

remained unchanged.  The strains of the war were being felt, but 

school was still progressing. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1944-1945: 
 Teacher hiring was still a problem, but the hiring of a Music 

Supervisor was noted by Nickerson in the 1945 report; an 

elementary school orchestra was organized, consisting of about 

40 students; the school lunch program was feeding about 250 

students per day; and teacher in-service training was emphasized. 

 At Williams, enrollment was: Seniors 19, Juniors 40, 

Sophomores 23, Freshmen, 55.  New staff or replacements 

included: Mr. Chandler (taught 1941-42) returning in Manual 

Arts; Mrs. Sturtevant, in Language and English, replaced by Miss 

Barbara Dennett; Miss Arvilla Humphrey replacing Mrs. Carle in 

Home Economics; and Mrs. Atherton in the new music program. 

 The Student Council played a major role in the social and 

extra-curricular activities at Williams, including collecting of 

scrap materials, raising money for construction of gymnasium 

bleachers, and selling of war bonds. 

From World War II to School Administrative 
District No 47, 1945-1965 

SCHOOL YEAR 1945-1946: 
 C J Cutts, in his first report as superintendent, strongly 

emphasizes the growth in school enrollment, and overcrowding 

which will soon follow.  Cutts also suggested that with 

elementary enrollment up 12% over the previous spring, with one 

division of seventh grade at Williams, and a projected high 

school enrollment of 42% over the present within five years, 

Williams will not house the student body properly by September 

1947.  The needs of the town for an adequate gymnasium was 

obvious.  The seating capacity was only 156, and athletics, 

dramatics, debating, speaking, and musical productions were 

suffering as a result. 

 Cutts proposed a building program which would include a 

new combination gymnasium and auditorium, with the present 

gymnasium being converted to two classrooms and a shop, as 

well as providing space for a music room and cafeteria. 

 New Williams principal, Harold Louder, reported 

enrollments: Seniors 37, Juniors 18, Sophomores 48, Freshmen 

40, Grade Eight 56, Grade Seven 25.  New staff included: 

Franklin Downie returned in Physical Education, and as Athletic 

Director and Baseball coach; Miss Ardis Woodbury resigned, 

replaced in commercial subjects by Miss Abby Giggey of 

Waterville; Ira A Witham Jr, WW II Captain, replaced Miss Eva 

Libby in seventh grade, and he taught physical education and 

coached basketball as well.  Edith Cooley coached girls 

basketball.  Louder also repeated Cutts' call for new construction 

on the building. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1946-1947: 
 Teacher procurement issues surfaced again; 1200 vacancies 

annually in Maine were being filled by only 250 teacher college 
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graduates.  Administration was not immune, as both Harold 

Louder at MHS and Ira Witham at Tapley School resigned, being 

replaced by Maxwell Ward, and Mrs. Helen Gallagher 

respectively. 

 Overcrowding was again evident, with forty or more 

students per class at Tapley, and all available space at Williams 

being used.  However, community support was also evident in 

that a Parent Teachers' Association was organized, and voters 

passed articles in the town meeting to add on to the high school. 

 A survey done by the Department of Education, reported: (1) 

both buildings are generally in good condition, though 

inadequate for anything other than routine classroom teaching; 

(2) both buildings are badly overcrowded; (3) future enrollments 

will overstrain the facilities; (4) extra-curricular offerings are 

ineffective in the present facilities; (5) minimum needs are for 4 

more classrooms, and more space in the gymnasium/auditorium 

at Williams HS; and (6) an addition was better advised at WHS 

than at Tapley. 

 Recommendations by the building committee included: (1) 

add a 36 foot long addition on the east end of Williams HS, 

containing 4 classrooms; (2) move Tapley's grades 6 and 7 to 

WHS until WHS needs the room; (3) extend the gymnasium to 

the north 30 feet; (4) replace the existing east wall with lally 

columns and add seating. 

 New Williams HS principal Maxwell D Ward reported 

enrollment at: Seniors 14, Juniors 45, Sophomores 36, Freshmen 

55, Grade Eight 51, Grade Seven 30.  Music and public 

exhibitions were an important part of the school year, including 

the Senior Play, a Variety Show, and basketball under coaches 

Charles Merrill and Caroline Sturtevant.  Merrill, in his report as 

athletic director, made the case for improved physical facilities 

very strongly, noting that athletics must be self-supporting, and 

that the capacity of the gymnasium doesn't even fit the student 

enrollment, to say nothing of public attendance, and loss of 

student clothing due to too few lockers.  He notes that this lack 

will be especially pressing when football returns to Williams HS 

after many years' absence. 

 The warrant for the town meeting contained an article (22) 

which would provide a total of $66,000 for construction as 

outlined in the recommendations above, $31,000 from new bond 

issues and $35,000 from sale of treasury bonds already held by 

the town.  A building committee was appointed in Article 23. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1947-1948: 
 Construction was the main topic of C J Cutts' report.  Due to 

a lag in the Williams HS construction, the Public Library housed 

a class of 28 students.  Enrollment at Tapley School in grades JP-

7 was 426, with 243 at Williams HS in grades 8-12.  Teaching 

time was lost during construction only in physical education.  

Music rehearsals were held in the Post Rooms at Memorial Hall, 

while the hall itself was used for assemblies in the fall of 1947.  

The gymnasium was available to the public on December 23, 

1947, while the additional classrooms were expected to be ready 

by March, 1948.  The largest indoor crowd in Oakland history 

attend the production "Americana" in the new facility in January 

1948.  Edwin Richardson became principal at Tapley, and an 

additional social studies teacher was noted at Williams. 

 However, current construction wasn't the only topic; future 

construction was discussed.  Space available would be adequate 

only until September, 1950, and by 1951-52, two additional new 

classrooms would be necessary. 

 Teacher salaries again were compared; Oakland teachers on 

average were paid $544 less than the national average of $2550.  

Weekly salaries averaged $36.53, while in industry, average 

workers earned $60 per week. 

 Sharply higher prices were reflected in the 1947-48 year, 

with paper and school supplies having risen 140% since January 

1941, and by about 68% just since January 1946.  Budget 

requests for the coming year included more money for repairs at 

Williams HS, and a new bus for the Fairfield Street run. 

 High school enrollment was: Senior 36, Junior 31, 

Sophomore 57, Freshman 54, Grade Eight 56, for a total of 234.  

Williams saw a schedule of five one-hour classes, with a half-

hour activity period.  Football returned in Fall, 1947, and an 

additional teaching position was added in social studies. 

 This year also saw the first discussion in superintendent 

reports of the formation of a school "district." 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1948-1949: 
 Enrollment and faculty reached a peak this year.  New 

Superintendent Hubert Redding listed the staff with enrollments.  

For comparison with present staff numbers and enrollments, the 

list is intriguing: 

Williams H S Grade Enrollment  

Maxwell Ward Principal Fresh. 56 

J Harland Morse Science Soph. 53 

Dorothy Sturtevant Language Jr. 52 

Madeline Woodworth English Sr. 30 

*Clarence Campbell Mathematics 

*Hazel Townsend Commercial 

*Leonard Osier Social Science 

*Frances Melvin Home Economics 

J Philip Chandler Manual Training 

Charles Merrill Phys Ed - Boys 

*Doris Hawkes Phys Ed - Girls 

Lilla Atherton Music 

Elizabeth Hills Grade 8 56 

*Farrington Charles Grade 7 31 

 

John S. Tapley School 

*Lawrence Sturtevant Grade 7, Principal 25 

Charlena Walton Grade 6 33 

*Hilda Charles Grade 5 & 6 32 

Caroline Sturtevant Grade 5 32 

Muriel Dutton Grade 4 34 

*Hazel Hitchcock Grade 3 and 4 32 

Clarissa Wheeler Grade 3 38 

*Abbie McLaughlin Grade 2 30 

Mildridge Jones Grade 2 30 

Mary Fox Grade 1 24 

Vivian Robinson Grade 1 28 

*Estelle Noyes Sub-Primary} 

*Nettie Wallace Sub-Primary} 78 

*=New this year 

 

 A first in School Union 53, an all-day workshop was held on 

December 7, 1948, and many teachers are noted as having taken 

extension courses. 
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 Again, overcrowding appears, even though the high school 

annex was not yet finished.  A room at Tapley School had a 

dividing wall, and the library school showed real deficiencies as 

a classroom area.  Only two rooms of the Williams HS annex 

were finished, and there was no available room for the 8th grade, 

so they had to be split up over several rooms wherever there was 

space available.  Based on needs for 1949-50, there was need to 

divide a Sub-Primary class of 80 into 2 classes, transfer two 

groups from Tapley School to Williams, use one more of the 

rooms in the annex for the high school classes, and continue to 

use the Library for one first grade class.  Even then, there would 

be a shortage of one classroom. 

 
Illus 7 - Williams HS addition, left 

 
 Redding recommended as possibilities, first, a six-room 

addition on the Tapley School; second, an 

auditorium/gymnasium at Tapley; and third, a committee to 

study future trends and make building program 

recommendations.  An article in the warrant called for purchase 

of land next to the high school. 

 In curriculum and teaching, Redding noted that mid-year 

exams had been instituted at Williams, and that both principals 

had been relieved of classroom teaching so as to get better 

acquainted with staff and students. 

 Maxwell Ward noted that the high school now had a 

schedule consisting of 6 periods of 45 minutes each, with an 

activity or make-up period at the end of the day.  If students' 

work was complete, dismissal was at 2:35; if not, dismissal was 

at 3:15.  The manual training shop was moved to the new wing, 

providing space for a cafeteria (1996- located in the present 

junior high school home economics room). 

 Construction proceeded from 14 March 1947 to July 1948.  

The building committee, consisting of Dean E Wheeler, Odilon 

Morrisette, Harold E York, Wayland S Small, and Susan S 

Bastow, reported that the lowest bids on construction were 

$98,750 and $85,818, both of which were above the specified 

amount.  Cuts were made, principally the walls in the upstairs 

addition.  The committee requested a special town meeting and 

received permission to build those walls.  Bleachers were 

constructed for $500 by having Mr. Chandler and the manual 

training classes build them. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1949-1950: 
 The Library housed a third grade class rather than a first 

grade one, and total enrollment was up to 727 from 704 in 

September 1948.  Teachers new to the schools included Priscilla 

White, Languages, WHS, replacing Dorothy Sturtevant who left 

to teach at Belgrade; Dorothy Whitten, Social Science, WHS; 

David Marshall, Biology and General Science, WHS; Donald 

Strout, Grades 6 and 7, and Principal at Tapley; Lois Beverage, 

Grades 4 and 5; Helena Booth, Grade 4; Eleanor Brennan, Grade 

2; Marcia Joy, Grade 2; Irene Miller, Grade 1; and Margaret 

Smith, Grade 1.  Superintendent Redding cautioned against 

having so large a turnover of staff. 

 Textbook needs were stressed, and a basal system in math, 

English and spelling was completed.  Driver training was added 

to the curriculum, which, along with higher teacher salaries, 

increased fuel costs, and the purchase of coal for the Tapley 

School, added significantly to the cost of operating schools.  In 

1948-49, an oil boiler was added at Williams, and the coal which 

was to have been used there was shifted to the Tapley School. 

 About 130 high school and elementary school students were 

participating in the hot lunch program at Williams under the care 

of Mrs. Inza Foster.  A new hot water tank increased the supply 

of hot water. 

 Article 13 in the town meeting warrant requested a bond 

issue of up to $10,000 to finish the addition to Williams, and was 

passed. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1950-1951: 
 The building committee reported that two bids, $8,425 and 

$8,850, were received, with alternates of $1.340 and $1,125 for 

the exterior entrance to the manual training room.  All bids were 

too high, and the project was re-advertised.  New bids ranged 

from $5,974.50 to $8,587, and the contract was awarded to 

Stanley W Sabine of Skowhegan.  Appropriations of $2,595 and 

a bond issue of $8,000 were authorized. 

 Enrollment was 714, but was expected to rise as the number 

of births in Oakland from 1943 to 1950 showed a significant 

increase.  Class sizes at Tapley School ranged from 41 to 17, 

with new principal Keith Selwood having the 41 in grade 5, and 

Mary Fox having the 17 in her Junior Primary afternoon class. 

 New teachers this year included: William Stone, Languages 

and Basketball, WHS; Ralph Atwood, Social Studies and 

Baseball, WHS; Arthur Clark, Boy's Phys Ed and Football, 

WHS; Colette Caswell, Girls Phys Ed, WHS; Robert Corbett, 

Music; Doris Browne, Grade 6; Keith Selwood, Grade 5 and 

Principal; Pauline Grover, Grade 1; and Audrey Blake, Jr 

Primary.  Former Tapley School principal, Donald Strout, re-

entered the Air Force, an indication that the Korean War was 

affecting Oakland schools. 

 The completion of the two rooms at WHS offered the chance 

to house grades 7 and 8 there, but beginning in September 1951, 

a shortage of rooms will be again apparent.  Redding noted a new 

method of state financing of school construction which would 

help towns like Oakland, constantly facing overcrowding. 

 At Williams HS, the old library was converted into a 

classroom, as the annex contained a room upstairs for a new one, 

opened under teacher supervision.  Fluorescent lighting in the 

annex was to be carried throughout the original building.  

Bleachers separate from the gymnasium bleachers were 

recommended for the athletic fields.  A new concrete walkway 

from the east side door and the gymnasium door was completed.  

The building housed grades 6 through 8 (152 students) as well as 

the high school (174 students), for a total enrollment of 326.  

Thirty-one seniors and juniors completed the half-year driver 

education course, with a dual control Ford provided by Greeley 

and Getchell, the local dealers. 
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 Purchase of a new school bus slightly decreased conveyance 

costs, and a road around the building was recommended, as 

Pleasant Street was too narrow for both traffic and parking.  

Articles in the town report specifically related to WHS included: 

Article 10, for purchase of a piano, seats, desks, and fluorescent 

lighting; Article 11, for paying for repairs in the water supply 

system; Article 12, to purchase the Hunton lot on the west side; 

Article 13, to repair the road and parking area; Article 14, to 

purchase land owned by Forest Folsom and Thomas Sullivan, 

north of Williams and between the Maine Central Railroad and 

west side of Williams.  An article relating to the Tapley School 

authorized the Library school room for another year. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1951-1952: 
 Enrollment was up to 747 in September 1951; class sizes at 

Tapley ranged from 36 in Clarissa Wheeler's Grade 3 to 19 in 

Evelyn Mairs' Junior Primary afternoon class in the Library 

School.  Once more, the Library School housed two of the four 

Junior Primary classes, and there were two full classes each in 

grades 1 through 5. 

 Enrollment at Tapley was about 436, and Williams held 311 

in grades 6-12.  There were 38 Seniors, 38 Juniors, 44 

Sophomores, 50 Freshmen, 44 in Grade 8, 50 in Grade 7, and 47 

in Grade 6. 

 New teachers included Ethel Stone, Commercial, replacing 

Mrs. Hazel Townsend; Miriam Brier, Home Economics, 

replacing Mrs. Frances Melvin; Frank Hesdorfer, Jr, Manual 

Arts, replacing Philip Chandler; Harold Breen, Music, replacing 

Robert Corbett; Berkley Hutchins, Grades 7 and 8 until January; 

Mrs. John Trainor, replacing Hutchins in January; Elizabeth 

Reed, Grade 1; Phyllis Parker, Grade 1; Rosemarie Walsh, Grade 

4; and Evelyn Mairs, Junior Primary.  The shortage of good 

teachers was expected to worsen, but a new salary scale was 

hopefully going to attract and retain good teachers. 

 Repairs at Williams included replacement of copper tubing 

with iron pipe in the radiators in the annex; other work in the 

annex included completion of lockers.  Recommendations for 

further work included purchase of additional land to the west of 

the building for parking, and the completion of fluorescent 

lighting in the remaining four rooms not so equipped. 

 Redding also recommended a committee be appointed which 

would consider "location, size, use, and financing of a new 

building," and whether schools should have six year elementary 

and six year high schools, seven year elementary and five year 

high schools, or a junior high school.  Steel bleachers, he said, 

should replace the wooden ones which are in bad condition and 

take up too much room. 

 The proposed teacher salary schedule was accepted at the 

March 1952 town meeting: 

 

Yrs Training 

Exp 2 Yrs 3 Yrs BA/BS MA/MS 

0 $1850 $2000 $2150 $2300 

1 $1900 $2075 $2250 $2400 

2 $1950 $2150 $2350 $2500 

3 $2000 $2225 $2450 $2600 

4 $2050 $2300 $2550 $2700 

5 $2100 $2375 $2650 $2800 

6 $2150 $2450 $2750 $2900 

7 $2200 $2525 $2850 $3000 

 

 Redding also regretted not being able to spend as much time 

as he wished due to the fact that Union 53 contained four other 

towns which also needed his services. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1952-1953: 
 Again, enrollment rose to 755.  At the Tapley School, there 

were five new teachers: John M Gillis, Grade 5 and Principal, 

replacing Keith B Selwood; Louise Holtan in Grade 4; Pearle St 

Peter also in Grade 4; Isabelle Southard in Grade 2; and Margaret 

Smith in Grade 1, returning after an absence of two years.  

Qualifications of the new personnel were favorable, most having 

four years or more of training. 

 Buildings again took a major portion of Redding's report.  

The annex at Williams HS was finally completed with the 

addition of steel partitions in toilet stalls, and locker hardware.  

The athletic grounds and parking lots were progressing at 

Williams, and the playground at Tapley was expanded toward 

Oak Street. 

 Recommendations were made for future construction and 

expansion as follows: 

 1)  One extra classroom is needed to move students out of 

the Library School. 

 2)  Grades 6 and 7 should be removed from the High School, 

and probably Grade 8 should be as well.  It would take at least 

four new classrooms to accomplish removal of Grades 6 and 7 

from Williams. 

 3)  Tapley students walk to Williams for lunch; they should 

have their own cafeteria. 

 4)  Several grades are large enough to require three 

divisions, based on state class size recommendations of 25.  

Several classes by 1954-55 will have 72 students, requiring three 

divisions. 

 5)  Land should be purchased adjacent to the Tapley school, 

namely the Hersom Estate. 

 6)  A new school for grades 5, 6 and 7 would allow Williams 

to return to housing grades 8 through 12, and Tapley to house up 

to grade 4. 

 At Williams HS, enrollment showed 38 Seniors, 39 Juniors, 

41 Sophomores, and 48 Freshmen.  There was no turnover in 

staff, for the first time in many years.  Fluorescent lighting and 

steel bleachers were installed.  Support staff included Linwood 

Littlefield, replacing Frank Garland, janitor for nine years; and 

Hazel Lewis, assisted by Elizabeth Wyman and Charlotte 

Drinkwine in the hot lunch program. 

 In the Town Report, Article 10 called for purchase of seats 

and desks; Article 11 requested $4500 for a new school bus; and 

Article 13 organized a building committee of at least nine people. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1953-1954: 
 New teachers this year were:  J Wallace Pillsbury, Science, 

Social Studies and Math, replacing David Marshall; Gilbert 

Sewell, Grade 7, replacing Berkley Hutchins; Ethel Hutchinson, 

Grade 3; Grace Hufstader, Grade 2; and William Lloyd Jr, 

Music, replacing Harold Breen.  Principal Ward had a full-time 

secretary, Mrs. Argie Allen.  Cafeteria personnel were Mrs. 

Hazel Lewis, Mrs. Jessie King and Mrs. Betty Mawhinney. 

 Regular maintenance at both schools continued, but no 

major changes were made.  The manual arts program was 

recommended for major changes to a four area Industrial Arts 
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program, in line with state regulations.  If the program, which 

served an average of 59% of all boys, were to continue receiving 

state aid, and if Oakland were to continue charging tuition to out-

of-town students, this change must be made, at a cost of about 

$5000. 

 Overcrowding would probably result in the Library School 

being continued, and classes being held at Memorial Hall.  At 

Williams, the eighth grade required another classroom.  Redding 

again recommended purchase of the Hersom property on Heath 

Street.  At Williams, a separate space for band and music 

rehearsals was also needed. 

 Maxwell Ward reported enrollment at Williams.  Figures 

showed 37 Seniors, 35 Juniors, 41 Sophomores, 56 Freshmen, 41 

Eighth graders, 65 Seventh graders, and 53 Sixth graders, for a 

total of 169 high schoolers, and 159 elementary schoolers. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1954-1955: 
 The building committee appointed in March 1954, was told 

that the high school library, teachers' room and laboratory had 

been converted to classrooms.  The committee moved to enlarge 

school capacity, set up a reserve fund of $20,000 per year for 

three years, and to recommend $35,000 for repair of the old high 

school for use.  Also, installation of an oil burner at Tapley 

School was requested. 

 Hubert Redding's final superintendent's report appeared.  

Faculty at Tapley included Mary Fox, Sub-primary; Phyllis 

Parker, 1; Mildridge Jones (new), 1; Lena Chandler (new), 2; 

Grace Hufstader, 2; Vivian Robinson, 3; Ethel Hutchinson, 3; 

Kathryn L Shaw (new), 4; Louise Holtan, 4; Doris Browne, 5; 

and John Gillis, 5 and Principal.  At the Library School, Audrey 

Blake and Evelyn Mairs taught Sub-primary classes. 

 Other new faculty members included Alice Hammond, 6; 

Geneva Libby, 7; Liane Savage, 7; Howard Jellison, Science, 

Social Studies Math; and Richard Savage, English. 

 Superintendent Redding once more suggested strongly that 

the high school needs one more room, all available space was 

being used, and that more space was desperately needed. 

 Principal Ward reported 32 Seniors, 36 Juniors, 47 

Sophomores, 54 Freshmen (total 169) 61 in Grade 8, 57 in Grade 

7, 65 in Grade 6 (total 183) with a total of 352 people at 

Williams. 

 Three articles in the warrant spoke to school construction.  

Article 29 called for a capital reserve fund of $20,000 for school 

construction.  Article 30 called for bonds in the amount of 

$40,000 for renovation of the Old High School.  Article 31 

moved that bonds be issued to $90,000 for construction of a new 

6-room elementary school. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1955-1956: 
 John C MacLeod's report dealt largely with overcrowding 

and construction needs.  Enrollment by grade was:  SP - 75; 1 - 

67; 2 - 65; 3 - 70; 4 - 72; 5 - 50; 6 - 81; 7 - 58; 8 - 58; 9 - 80; 10 - 

52; 11 - 42; 12 - 29.  High school enrollment totaled 203, up 

from 169 the previous year.  Elementary classes ranged from 35 

to 41, and MacLeod recommended immediate action to add two 

new rooms and teachers.  Storage closets at Williams are being 

used for classes and the library; the teachers' room held three 

study groups per day.  Based on current needs and only moderate 

future plans, an eight-room school was considered necessary.  A 

bond issue of $125,000 retired at $8,000 per year should add 

only 4 mills to the tax rate, according to MacLeod.  Article 21 in 

the warrant recommended this plan of action. 

 New staff included Mrs. Alice Brown, teaching English at 

WHS; Theodore Burgoyne, as music supervisor; and Charles 

Scontras, teaching social studies and coaching junior varsity 

basketball.  

 Repairs included putting plywood on the first floor lower 

walls at Williams, with plans to install plywood over the plaster 

on the second floor next year.  The oil burner was installed at 

Tapley. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1956-1957: 
 The building committee, consisting of Frank Bastow Jr, 

Elvina M Greeley, Merton E Leech, B P Fossett, Ronald F 

Handley and Alfred Wheeler, oversaw the construction of the 

new Oakland Elementary School.  Bonds in the amount of 

$85,000, redeemed at $5,000 per year for seventeen years were 

issued.  The committee, organized on April 2, 1956, requested a 

special town meeting to be held on May 15, 1956, for money to 

purchase the Hersom Lot, and various miscellaneous costs.  

Construction began on June 19.   

 Various town organizations donated time or money to the 

project:  Lions and JayCees, $50 each for gravel on the new 

playground; Cascade Grange, $210 for the circular driveway in 

front of the school; and the Jaycees tore down the extant building 

on the lot, saving the town $550. 

 The building itself consisted of eight classrooms each with 

toilet facilities, a teacher's room, a kitchen, a storage room, and a 

furnace room.  The building was occupied following Christmas 

vacation, 1956.  Enrollment was 207 students in grades K-2; 

Tapley School held 320 in grades 3-7, and Williams held grades 

8-12. 

 
Illus 8 - Ralph M Atwood School 

 
 New staff included Clinton Phinney, principal and grade 7; 

Mrs. Althea Jewett, grade 7; Mrs. Ruth Niles, grade 5; and Mrs. 

Jane Whytock, grade 5.  Beginning teachers in Oakland earned 

$2700, as compared to $3000 for many other similar towns in 

Maine. 

 Repairs at Williams included paneling the second floor 

corridor, installation of three new sinks in the Home Economics 

room, adjustments in the heating system, and repair of the gym 

floor. 

 Principal Ward reported enrollment at 35 Seniors, 45 

Juniors, 72 Sophomores and 59 Freshmen, totaling 211 in high 

school, with 61 eighth graders, for a building total of 272.  

Changes in staff included J Harland Morse's retirement after 26 

years at Williams, being replaced by Arthur Clark; Mrs. Liane 

Savage and Mrs. Helen Meader replaced Mr. and Mrs. William 

Stone who left Williams to go to New Hampshire; Robert 

Whytock taught biology, and boys' physical education, and 
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coached football and basketball; and Rev E Warren Clarke 

replaced Charles Scontras for the first semester while Scontras 

obtained a Master's degree. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1957-1958: 
 The legislature passed the Sinclair Act in the past session.  

This act had wide-ranging implications for Maine schools, in the 

areas of teachers' salaries, state subsidies, and plans for a new 

type of school district, the School Administrative District. 

 In the area of teacher salaries, Oakland ranked 47th of 63 

similar-sized towns in 1956-57, and 52nd in 1957-58.  

Significant increases in the school budget were needed just to 

meet the minimum $3300 starting salary required by the Sinclair 

Act. 

 New staff included Lilla Atherton as music supervisor, 

assisted by Malcolm Lary and Kenton Stewart; Retha Boterf 

replaced Mrs. Meader in commercial subjects; Merle Golding 

replaced Mr. Scontras in English, Social Studies, and Math; Mrs. 

Annie McLellan, grade 1; Mrs. Doris Hesdorfer, Grade 2; Miss 

Mary Lawrence, Grade 2; Mrs. Eleanor Merry, Grade 3; Mrs. 

Jeanne Stevens, Grade 4; Miss Alicia Reynolds, Grade 7; and 

Mr. John Eagles, Principal. 

 At Williams, more rooms were paneled and painted; the 

athletic field was seeded, and the Lions, Jaycees and Oakland 

Athletic Association donated a backstop. 

 Enrollment at Williams included 38 Seniors, 69 Juniors, 59 

Sophomores, 74 Freshmen (total 240) and 67 in Grade 8, for a 

building total of 307. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1958-1959: 
 In one of the few school reports giving details of curriculum, 

Superintendent MacLeod reported that Grade 8 has been 

departmentalized, and that one division of Grade 8 will be taught 

Algebra during the end of the school year.  More textbooks and 

teaching materials were added, and a guidance counselor was 

added at Williams.  The high school requirements included four 

years of English, three of social studies, two each of math and 

science, and college and commercial students were required to 

take five classes during their junior and senior years.  

Additionally, the school day was increased by an hour and 

twenty minutes, providing 50-minute periods, and adding one 

additional period. 

 Several committees from Oakland, Sidney, Smithfield and 

Belgrade were studying the possibility of forming a school 

district.  Such a district would contain 1100 elementary and 300 

high school students. 

 New staff included Frances Ouellette, replacing Alice 

Brown at mid-year, in English; Terry Mayo, English; Marguerite 

Bigelow, substituting for Retha Boterf on leave; Gail Smith, 

replacing Merle Golding in English; Rodney Shain in history, 

physical education, and football/basketball, replacing Robert 

Whytock; and Andrew Swan, Guidance; Mary Anne Albee, 

Grade 2; Doralice Sawyer, Grade 2; Charlene Brown, Grade 4; 

Diane Fjeldheim, Grade 5; and John Seymour, Grade 7. 

 Salaries increased to $3300, but were proposed to start at 

$3550 for 1959-60. 

 Repairs proposed or accomplished included installing fire 

doors at both Tapley and Williams; more plywood paneling at 

Williams; boiler repair; and the usual repainting of rooms.  

Guidance was housed in the former library; the library was 

moved to the old typing room; typewriters were moved to the 

commercial room. 

 Enrollment at Williams, according to Principal Ward, 

included 59 Seniors, 54 Juniors, 68 Sophomores, 71 Freshmen 

(total 252) and 56 eighth-graders, for a building total of 308. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1959-1960: 
 Superintendent MacLeod noted that two educational 

television courses were being used at Williams by 16 students; 

health, technical algebra, and physical science were added to the 

Williams curriculum.  New science books were purchased for all 

elementary grades, and science instruction was departmentalized 

in grades 7 and 8.  A fourth year of French was recommended. 

 Accreditation of Williams as a high school was questionable.  

A visiting committee recommended improvements in the library, 

laboratories, and the shower and locker room facilities.  The 

changes recommended would cost a considerable amount, but 

must be spent if Oakland wants its high school to be accredited. 

 New staff included Mrs. Esther Smith, replacing Mr. Mayo 

in English; Dana Doyon replacing Mr. Seymour in seventh 

grade; and Mrs. Margaret Smith replacing Mrs. Merry in third 

grade. 

 Fire doors and a fire escape were installed at Tapley; roof 

repairs and a new boiler section at Williams were needed. 

 The committees investigating formation of a school district 

were again active in Belgrade, Oakland, Sidney and Smithfield, 

and reports of each sub-committee were nearly complete. 

 The Benjamin Fund, established in 1924, provided loans for 

graduates of Oakland High School.  Many of the loans made 

were not repaid, and the balance in the fund was $358.95.  Of the 

1959 graduating class, twelve were continuing their education, 

and received $1532 in scholarships. 

 At Williams, there were 2 post graduate students, 53 seniors, 

64 juniors, 62 sophomores, 64 freshmen (total 245) and 61 eighth 

graders.  A new program of studies was instituted, based on 

Carnegie units.  Track I, the college preparatory course, required 

18 Carnegie units; Track II, the Commercial course, required 17 

Carnegie units; Track III Vocational and General, required 16 

Carnegie units. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1960-1961: 
 Teacher salaries were again proposed to rise to a starting rate 

of $3800 and a maximum of $4750.  Even then, salaries were in 

need of further improvement, compared with other towns. 

 An additional science teacher was requested at Williams.  

Chemistry and physics were taught alternately, but enrollment in 

each class now justified teaching both yearly.  A full-time music 

position was also recommended, as it was several years past. 

 Repairs included a new gymnasium roof covering and 

replacement of a boiler section at Williams. 

 Teaching changes included a new principal at Williams.  

Philip Harris succeeded Maxwell Ward; Mrs. Virginia Smalley 

replaced Mrs. Fjeldheim in fifth grade; Mrs. Bonny Brown was 

teaching a second-third grade class at the Primary School. 

 High school accreditation was again an issue.  Requirements 

included: 1 - reduce the teaching load; 2 - provide a larger library 

with 2400 volumes; 3 - provide a half-time certified librarian; 4 - 

provide adequate showers and locker rooms; 5 - enlarge and 

modernize the science lab; 6 - provide more varied instructional 

materials; and 7 - provide a clinic.  These requirements could be 
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met by hiring an additional science teacher, adding 450 books to 

the library for each of the next two years; and building a two-

story addition on the west side of the gymnasium to house locker 

rooms and two science labs.  The cost of the addition was 

estimated at $40,000.  Other recommendations could be met by 

reassigning rooms.  Article 9 on the warrant would provide 

necessary funding for this addition. 

 The Oakland school committee turned down the idea of a 

regional school district due to the costs involved.  No further 

action would be taken until another state legislative session had 

passed. 

 The Benjamin High School Loan Fund improved 

repayments, and a balance of $607.11 was reported.  The unpaid 

balance totaled $6,123, some loans going back to 1927. 

 New staff at Williams included Wilfred Finnigan in 

guidance and chemistry, replacing Andrew Swan of guidance, 

and Arthur Clark in science and math; Robert Dumond, in math; 

Jeannine White in English replacing Mrs. Cole who had in turn 

replaced Mrs. Esther Smith; Edward Richards replacing Frank 

Hesdorfer who transferred to Winslow.  Ralph Atwood became 

sub-master, in place of Arthur Clark. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1961-1962: 
 I am indebted to Dr John W Skehan's Ed.D. dissertation 

entitled School District Reorganization in Maine, 1957-1980 

(George Peabody College for Teachers of Vanderbilt University, 

August, 1981), for the "blow by blow" descriptions of the 

formation of SAD 47. 

 On 16 November 1961, along with Superintendent John 

MacLeod, several citizens met with the MSDC.  Their proposal 

was to form a school administrative district under the 1957 

Sinclair Act, the proposed district to consist of Oakland, 

Belgrade and Sidney.  The idea had been studied about two years 

earlier, but no action was taken at that time since the proposed 

district would have been a financial burden on Oakland.  Also 

since that time, Belgrade had built a gymnasium and was thus no 

longer interested in joining with Oakland and Sidney.  The 

application filed listed improved education programs on the high 

school level as the major advantage of forming a district, and the 

report was filed for the commission to study. 

 The proposal was rejected by MSDC on 21 November, 

stating that there was sufficient population to form an adequately 

sized district, and to approve formation of a smaller one at that 

time would not be a good idea.  However, the MSDC was 

overruled when the Legislature passed Chapter 232 of the Private 

and Special Laws of 1961, titled "An Act to Allow the 

Municipalities of Oakland and Sidney to Form a SAD" on 1 

December 1961. 

 Mr. MacLeod, on meeting with the MSDC on 7 January 

1962, was told that if the MSDC were to change its mind on 

approval, new information would have to be presented, to 

include (1) a statement from Smithfield and Belgrade that those 

towns would not apply to form their own district; (2) a statement 

from Oakland and Sidney that they would allow Belgrade and 

Smithfield to join the proposed district when financially feasible; 

(3) a statement describing how the proposed district would be 

educationally advantageous to Oakland and Sidney; and (4) a 

statement showing educational growth and improvements since 

the early 1950s. 

 The requested information was provided by a committee 

from Oakland and Sidney on 31 January 1962, and the MSDC 

rescinded its previous prohibition on the district.  The MSDC 

called for a meeting of selectmen and school committee members 

from Oakland and Sidney to be held at 7:30 p.m. on 28 February 

1962 at Williams High, the purpose of which meeting would be 

to set the total number of directors and the number allocated to 

each town. In municipal elections, however, Oakland voters 

rejected the proposed district 156 to 248, so no district was 

formed after all. 

 Enrollment was given by Superintendent MacLeod: 

PRIMARY TAPLEY WILLIAMS  

Gr Gr Gr Boys Girls Total 

JP, 91 3, 40 8 27 29 56 

1, 63 4, 71 9 48 42 90 

2, 70 5, 74 10 32 32 64 

3, 26 6, 58 11 29 33 51 

 7, 53 12 32 28 60 

  PG 1 0 1 

 

 New staff included Emmons Pinkham, replacing principal 

Frank Manchester as principal of both Tapley and Primary 

Schools; Charles Knauer, grades 6 and 7 math; Mrs. Barbara 

Pinkham, grade 3, Tapley; Mrs. Mary Knauer, grade 3, Primary; 

Mrs. Julienne Mullen, Grade 2, Primary; Mrs. Sandra Hinkley, 

Grade 2, Primary; and Mrs. Evangeline Tyler, Grades 1 and 2, 

Primary.  Grades 6 and 7 at Tapley were departmentalized.  

Teacher salaries increased by an average of $256, compared with 

$340 statewide.  A new salary scale provided a base of $3900 

and a top of $4900. 

 At Williams, the boiler, which required numerous repairs 

over the past few years, was replaced with $6000 appropriated at 

a special town meeting. 

 The new addition, voted on by the town in March, 1961, 

went out to bid, but the lowest bid was $57,000.  It was decided 

to hold on the addition, pending the vote on the proposed district 

(as noted above, the vote by Oakland was negative). 

 The Benjamin Fund saw repayments of $275, leaving an 

outstanding balance of nearly $6000, and a current balance of 

$897.69. 

 

Education in SAD 47, 1965 on 

SCHOOL YEAR 1965-1966: 
 After a lapse of three and a half years, the process of 

forming a School Administrative District was reactivated on 24 

September 1965 by Superintendent Alfred Bracy, with the State 

Board of Education listening to the presentations and directing 

that a meeting be held at 7:30 p.m. on 14 October 1965.  The 

meeting was held, and Oakland was assigned seven directors, 

Sidney, four.  Warrants were issued for a special election to be 

held on 15 November.  The votes were reported on 19 

November:  Oakland 189-60, and Sidney 138-9, both towns 

favoring the referendum.  The State Board then certified the 

results, and issued a Certificate of Organization for School 

Administrative District Number 47, which would become 

effective at an organizational meeting on 29 November 1965. 

 At this time, Superintendent Bracy's supervision over the 

Oakland school system ended, and he became superintendent for 

the towns of Smithfield, Rome, and Mercer; Ralph M. Atwood, 
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principal of Williams HS became the new SAD 47 

superintendent, assuming a post he would retain until the early 

1980s. 

 On 20 January 1966, Belgrade voted to apply for 

membership in SAD 47, and on 26 January, both Belgrade and 

Rome submitted their applications to the State Board of 

Education.  The State Board of Education studied the situation, 

and on 25 February, recommended that both towns be admitted 

to the district, with Rome having one director, Belgrade having 

three, and Sidney being reduced from four to three. 

 On 29 April, the State Board of Education received results 

from the Rome referendum in which Rome voters rejected 

joining, 26 to 57.  On 27 May, the State Board of Education was 

informed that Belgrade voters favored joining by 244 to 116, and 

that the District had accepted the town by a vote of 130 to 28.  

An amended Certificate of Organization, becoming effective on 

20 June 1966 was issued, and SAD 47 became a three-town 

district consisting of Belgrade, Oakland, and Sidney. 

 On 28 June, the town of Smithfield requested to be joined to 

SAD 47, and a feasibility study was done, recommending on 22 

July that Smithfield be allowed to become part of the district, 

with two directors.  Smithfield voters, however, rejected the 

proposal 40 to 44, and thus did not join after all. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1966-1967: 
 On 13 April 1967, Chapter 60 of the Private and Special 

Laws of 1967, Sections 13 - 15, validated all actions and 

proceedings regarding Belgrade's admission to SAD 47.  Thus, 

SAD 47 was constituted as it still existed until 2009. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1968-1969: 
 During this year, all district eighth graders were attending 

school in the former Belgrade High School due to overcrowding 

in Oakland and Sidney; in Oakland, the Primary School held 

grades K - 3, Tapley held grades 4 - 7, and Williams held grades 

9 - 12.  Work was begun on a district high school, to be called 

Messalonskee High School, after the lake which borders all three 

district towns. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1969-1970: 
 Messalonskee High School opened in September, 1969, as a 

district high school.  Designed in a letter "I" form, the school has 

two north-south wings, connected with an east-west hallway and 

classroom section.  The north part of the west wing housed 

English and Social Studies classrooms; the south part housed 

Science, Math, and Business Education.  Where the two sections 

joined was found the library and the main office, on opposite 

sides of a large atrium/lobby area.  The north part of the east 

wing contained the cafeteria/auditorium, music rooms, and the 

kitchen, while the south part housed locker rooms and the 

gymnasium.  The connecting wing housed industrial arts on the 

north wall, with art and home economics on the south wall.  The 

building had a low angled roof over all three sections, and was 

blessed with large areas of field for athletic facilities.  As 

designed, Messalonskee High School was capable of holding up 

to 550 students, a number which it soon exceeded, causing 

problems of crowded conditions reaching a crisis point by the 

late 1980s. 

 The course offerings included College Preparatory, General, 

Industrial Arts, Home Economics, and Business Education.  The 

Belgrade Central School returned to a K - 6 school, as the James 

H. Bean School in Sidney had been in 1968-69, and Tapley 

became a 3 - 5 school.  Since Williams High had been vacated, 

grades 7 and 8 for the district, as well as the 6th grade for 

Oakland were housed here in a newly-renamed Williams Junior 

High School. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1972-1973: 
 It was about this time that overcrowding in Sidney resulted 

in 6th graders being sent to Williams, along with Oakland's 6th 

grade. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1974-1975: 
 During this school year, nearly identical additions were 

made to the Oakland Primary School and Sidney's James H Bean 

School.  Both additions contained a gymnasium and kitchen, as 

well as several classrooms.  The Sidney addition allowed a 

former classroom to be converted to a library.  Sidney 6th grade 

students could now be returned to that town, relieving 

overcrowding at Williams, which had almost 450 students at the 

time. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1980-1981: 
 The energy crisis caused renovations to be made at Williams 

this year, namely new energy-efficient windows on the front side 

of the building, replacing the originals.  The heating system was 

also partially modernized in an effort to cut fuel consumption. 

 Construction began in the Spring on a renovation and 

addition to the Belgrade Central School, which opened in 1982.  

The building, which had been built in 1943 to replace the 

previous school which had burned, had become a maze with 

serious overcrowding.  One classroom was actually used as a 

hallway between two other classrooms.  Library facilities were 

primitive, as were special rooms for tutors and teachers.  The 

addition included several new rooms, and the renovation added 

space to the kitchen, opened up the interior of the original 

building aesthetically, and added a well designed library, 

completely renovated all classrooms and office areas, and 

generally spruced up the facility. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1982-1983: 
 Replacement of energy-inefficient windows at the Primary 

School and the James H Bean School was begun, continuing a 

process begun in 1980 at Williams JHS.  The Tapley school also 

received new windows, the bathrooms were updated and 

remodeled, and general repairs were made. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1984-1985: 
 Due to overcrowding and lack of proper educational 

facilities in the town of Rome, the residents of that town voted in 

the Spring of 1984 to tuition the 7th and 8th grade students to 

Williams JHS in Oakland for the school year 1984-85.  Most of 

Rome's high school students had been attending Williams High, 

and later Messalonskee High, since the 1960s.  Although part of 

the Maranacook Community School District, headquartered in 

Readfield, Rome had had relatively close ties to Oakland for 

several generations, and had considered becoming a part of SAD 

47 shortly after the inception of the District.  At a town meeting 

in March, 1985, although a move to join the District was once 

again voted down, it was voted to close the Rome Elementary 
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School, and tuition all Rome students to the District, with 

elementary students going to Belgrade Central School. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1985-1986: 
 In September, 1985, District residents approved plans to 

renovate and enlarge Williams JHS.  State approval was secured 

in February 1986 for a $3,000,000 project, roughly 40 times the 

expense of the original building.  Construction began on 23 June 

1986, with removal of asbestos, including asbestos floor tiles in 

the science wing, from the existing building. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1986-1987: 
 The foundation for the Williams JHS addition was being laid 

the second week in July 1986, and work was substantially 

completed by September of 1987.  During this school year, junior 

high students were bused to the former Waterville High School, 

on Gilman Street, which became successively, Waterville JHS, 

and the Kennebec Valley Vocational Technical Institute.  The 

entire school was moved on 17 October, 1986, with much 

assistance and planning from district residents, and repairs were 

made on the Gilman Street building by inmates from the 

Kennebec County Sheriff's Department through the cooperation 

of Sheriff Frank Hackett, Jr.  Although not an ideal situation, the 

District was indeed fortunate to have such a fine facility available 

at just the right time of need.  SAD 47 paid the City of Waterville 

$1 per year rent, and assumed the cost of all maintenance of the 

building during its use by District students. 

 Additionally, the District made great strides toward 

providing teachers with advanced degrees by leading the 

formation of the Kennebec Valley Center for Educational 

Development, a program in which University of Maine courses 

are brought to the Waterville-Augusta area, rather than having 

teachers travel to the Orono campus.  Over the next few years, 

dozens of teachers in the District would take graduate courses, 

and pursue advanced degree programs.  The center worked so 

well, that the University organized other centers centered in the 

counties of Washington, Hancock, Aroostook, Oxford, and 

Knox. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1987-1988: 
 

 On 18 October 1987, exactly 366 days after leaving 

Williams, the newly renovated and enlarged school was 

dedicated.  School had opened in the building on 2 September, 

the Wednesday before Labor Day.  Students and faculty were 

treated to a building which contained a new cafeteria, kitchen, 

and music area, an industrial arts shop, a renovated art and home 

economics area, a library which was a model for other junior 

high schools, a special education room, a full computer 

laboratory, and three additional classrooms.  Alumni of Williams 

HS and Williams JHS touring the facility could hardly believe 

the difference between the old and new.  A spacious two-story 

lobby area gave an air of openness to the building, and a balcony 

area on the second floor of the science wing further opened the 

inside.  Even staff members who had taught in the "old" building 

for 19 years became lost for the first few days.  After nearly ten 

years of trying for state approval, the project had been 

accomplished. 

 
Illus 9 - Williams Junior High School, renovation and 

addition, 1987 
 

SCHOOL YEAR 1988-1989: 
 At Messalonskee High School, plans were underway for a 

major addition and renovation project which was estimated at 

$8,000,000.  The project would include relocating the main 

entrance to the cafeteria-gymnasium end of the building, and 

adding industrial arts, home economics, art, physical education, 

performing arts, and office space in that part of the building.  

Elsewhere, the current industrial arts center would be renovated 

into a new library-computer center; the home economics and art 

areas would be remodeled into regular classrooms, as would the 

library and main offices near the original entrance of the 

building.  A straw vote was taken on 31 May 1989, at which 

those present unanimously approved of continuing with the 

project, including a 750 seat auditorium paid for from local funds 

as opposed to the 250 seat one which the state would provide.  

Replacement and repair of the main roof was also approved.  

Retirements in June included Elvira Strickland, business 

education teacher for over 30 years, and Verne Finemore, social 

studies and athletic director, for nearly 30 years. 

 At Williams Junior High, plans were underway, and training 

was provided for a shift to the middle school philosophy for 

school year 1989-90.  Melvin Williams, principal for 15 years, 

and Lewis Wyman, seventh grade science teacher for 21 years, 

and Dennis Ritz, music teacher and band director for 14 years, 

retired at the end of the year.  The new principal, Deborah H 

Bobotas, the first woman in a lead administrative position, came 

to the job on 1 July 1989. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1989-1990: 
 The Maine Department of Educational and Cultural Services 

approved construction of the Messalonskee High School project, 

and plans were underway for scheduling the construction. 

 At Williams JHS, the middle school philosophy was 

implemented. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1990-1991: 
 The main event this year is the addition/renovation of 

Messalonskee High School.  By October 1990, the driveway and 

parking lots on the north side of the building had been 

constructed, and work was proceeding on what would be the new 

front entrance, vocational and physical education areas, and 

offices. 
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SCHOOL YEAR 1991-1992: 
 Superintendent Albanese reported to the Board of Directors 

that as of mid-October 1991, the project was about 4 months 

ahead of schedule.  The new main office and vocational area was 

expected to be occupied after April vacation, 1992. 

 Growth was also evident in other district schools, with 

portable classrooms sprouting at all schools except for the junior 

high. 

 The trend for the year was "Restructuring" as the 

Messalonskee School District became a member of education 

reformer Theodore Sizer's Coalition for Essential Schools.  Grant 

money provided teachers and others with the opportunity to 

explore and experiment with new structures in education, and to 

implement plans for change. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1992-1993: 

 
Illus 10 - The Courtyard, Messalonskee High School 

 

 

 
Illus 11 - Messalonskee High School, after expansion and 

renovation, 1990 
 The newly enlarged and renovated Messalonskee High 

School opened and was officially dedicated in November 1992, 

with a month-long series of public events.  For the first time in 

many years, Memorial Hall was not used as a polling place.  

Instead, the small gymnasium at MHS was used, allowing the 

public a brief introduction to the new facility.  School music 

concerts for the Christmas season were held in the new 

Performing Arts Center for the first time, and many other events 

were anxiously anticipated. 

 In its second December meeting, the Board of Directors 

organized a committee to investigate future needs for 

construction.  With overcrowding at all district elementary 

schools reaching critical proportions, additions were anticipated 

in Belgrade, Sidney, and at the Atwood School.  Also in 

Oakland, a new elementary school, designed to replace the 

Tapley school, was a possibility the Board was investigating. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1994-1995: 
 At Williams JHS, part-time assistant principal Arthur 

Anicetti retired, finishing nearly 20 years in the building as a 

math teacher and administrator.  Anicetti kept his other hat, that 

of Adult Education Director.  His replacement, science teacher, 

Steve Lavoie, assumed the administrative post on July 1, 1995. 

 Other retirements included Bob Dumond, math teacher at 

MHS. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1995-1996: 
 Retirements for the year included Gordon Dexter, social 

studies teacher at MHS since 1961. 

 The highlight for this year came on the last day of school, 18 

June 1996.  Superintendent Albanese was nominated 

Commissioner of Education by Governor Angus King.  For 

"Duke" Albanese, the chance to advance his reform agenda 

statewide was the next step in his career.  Under his tutelage, the 

district became a model nation-wide, spending was kept to a 

minimum, yet quality education was provided to district students.  

Teacher's salaries became competitive statewide, and the 

academic and athletic achievements of students were all 

expanded. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1996-1997: 
 Williams JHS became the last school in the district (with the 

exception of Messalonskee HS) to add portable classrooms.  A 

double classroom portable was put in place to help deal with 

increased enrollments. 

 Assistant Superintendant, Don Borman, filled the 

Superintendantôs position while the hiring process began.  Dr. 

James Morse, formerly superintendent in Limestone, was hired 

as the new superintendent.  There apparently were some hard 

feelings because Borman, who had been a teacher, principal, and 

assistant superintendent for over 20 years, was not hired.  

Whether these feelings were a reason or not, he resigned 

effective 1 July 1997, and Elaine Miller, formerly assistant 

superintendent in Gardiner, was hired in Bormanôs stead.  Other 

administrative changes included Bean School principal Joe 

Mattos leaving to become assistant superintendent in Waterville, 

with Atwood-Tapley assistant principal Debbie Guimond 

replacing Mattos in Sidney. 

 Major plans for change were somewhat on hold pending the 

major administrative changes taking place.  The 1997-98 school 

year however, promised to be one of renewed planning for 

improvement.  However, in June, for the first time, the District 

budget, going out for referendum, failed to pass, resulting in a 

District Budget Meeting.  There was significant rancor at the 

meeting, with many residents of Belgrade and Sidney in 

particular, complaining of excessive spending in the budget.  One 

Belgrade resident went so far as to move to cut the entire $14 

million budget.  In the end, the budget was cut by about 

$200,000, leaving educators feeling somewhat relieved that 

major cuts would not be made, and many taxpayers frustrated at 

not being able to make more significant cuts.  Future budgets are 



 35 

 
apparently in jeopardy as many taxpayers have had enough 

increases. 

 Retirements this year included Bev Libby, after many years 

as secretary in the central office; Marjorie Golding, from 

Williams JHS; and Judy Ellis from Belgrade. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 1997-98 
 At the beginning of the school year, another double portable 

plus a single portable were added at Williams JHS, bringing the 

total number to 5 classrooms.  By November, the need had 

increased so a third double was added, totaling 7 by the end of 

1997.  The portables at Atwood-Tapley had by now increased as 

well.  Construction and additions were becoming more desperate 

than ever.  Enrollment at Messalonskee High School would near 

800 in a renovated building designed for 725; Williams would be 

over 470, in a renovated building designed for 350. 

 Unfortunately, the year was not without negative aspects.  

Two incidents at Messalonskee High School were reported in the 

Central Maine Morning Sentinel: 

 

Charges sought against principal 

Suspect allegedly sought hotel tryst with student 

Friday, May 22, 1998 

By Colin Hickey 

 

OAKLAND - Messalonskee High School Principal Carroll 

Thompson faces possible charges of attempted sexual 

misconduct with a minor stemming from an alleged plan to 

rendezvous with a female student during a principals' 

convention, Kennebec County District Attorney David W. 

Crook said. 

Thompson took an unexpected leave of absence for personal 

reasons on April 30. 

Crook, on Thursday, said the decision to seek charges 

followed an investigation by the Maine State Police and his 

office, including taping of phone calls between Thompson 

and the girl. 

"The charges that will be proposed would be attempted 

unlawful sexual contact, attempted unlawful sexual assault, 

attempted sex abuse of a minor and official oppression," said 

Crook. 

The district attorney said the case will be presented to a 

Kennebec County grand jury next week. 

Thompson, 52, was apprehended on April 30 at the Samoset 

Resort in Rockland, according to State Police detectives. 

Crook said the investigation started when the girl told her 

mother about the alleged solicitation, and the mother 

contacted police. 

According to Crook, investigators recorded two phone 

conversations in which Thompson invited the female 

Messalonskee High School student to spend the weekend 

with him during a principals' convention taking place at the 

resort. 

Crook, who would not release the age of the girl, said the 

first telephone conversation between the two parties was 

recorded April 29. 

"During that conversation, it was clear that she was being 

asked to meet with him and spend private time with him at 

the Samoset lodge and to spend the weekend with him. 

"To ensure that there was no question or mistake or accident 

regarding Mr. Thompson's intentions, a subsequent 

telephone call was (taped) April 30," Crook said. "After this 

office and the police officers reviewed the telephone calls, it 

was determined that Detective Robert Rowe and Detective 

Glenn Lang would go to the Samoset Lodge where they 

would meet with Mr. Thompson." 

Crook said Thompson told the student that he was in room 

138 at the resort and told her that he would leave a key to his 

room under the floor mat of his vehicle, which Crook 

believed to be a Jeep. 

Based on the investigation, Crook said, Thompson's sexual 

intentions were clear. 

"He was trying to urge, persuade, cajole this female student 

to spend the weekend with him at a principals' convention at 

the Samoset Resort for the purpose of engaging with her in 

sexual behavior," Crook said. 

He said the offenses are misdemeanors, not felonies, because 

none of the alleged acts were completed. The oppression 

charge will be sought because of Thompson's position of 

authority over students. 

The district attorney stressed that given Thompson's 

prominent public position and high degree of involvement 

with students, the anticipated charges are highly disturbing. 

"We feel these are extremely serious and sensitive 

misdemeanor offenses with significant impact on our school 

and our community," he said. 

Crook said Thompson cooperated fully with police when he 

was apprehended at the Samoset Resort. 

"He has been on administrative leave since April 30," he 

said. "He also has sought some sort of stabilizing care at 

Kennebec (Valley) Mental Health. I don't think Mr. 

Thompson expects to return to teaching." 

Crook added that the investigation is continuing to 

determine whether Thompson approached other students 

with similar intentions. 

"We have reason to believe there may be other students who 

may have been solicited, and we'd like to confirm or 

disprove it, one or the other," he said. 

School Administrative District 47 Superintendent James C. 

Morse said his only "direct" discussion with Crook occurred 

Friday morning. 

"His role and my role are completely different in this area," 

Morse said. "Obviously I'm not a prosecutor and he is. I 

would have had nothing to offer him. So it was not 

inappropriate for him not to contact me." 

Morse said Thompson, who is married, served as an 

administrator at Messalonskee High School for the past nine 

years, the last four as principal. 
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"I think it is very unfortunate to be in a situation where any 

school employee is facing charges as outlined by the district 

attorney," Morse said. "The district attorney has a difficult 

job to do, as do I." 

Morse said Assistant Principal George Tucker has served as 

acting principal since Thompson took his leave of absence. 

 

In a second incident, as reported by the Sentinel: 

 

Oakland students disciplined for for anti-semitism 

Friday, May 22, 1998 

By Darla L. Pickett 

OAKLAND - Two students at Messalonskee High School 

have been disciplined for allegedly harassing and assaulting 

a Jewish student at the school over the last eight months. 

The Office of the Attorney General this month filed an 

enforcement action against the pair under the Maine Civil 

Rights Act and both 16-year-olds have been suspended from 

school. 

James C. Morse Sr., superintendent of School 

Administrative District 47, said Thursday he did not know 

the length of the suspension. 

Morse said the details released Wednesday in a statement by 

Attorney General Andrew Ketterer had been communicated 

to him. 

"I was aware, in a global sense," Morse said. "I told (the 

AG's office) that whatever the school needed to do to 

support their efforts, we would do." 

According to the AG's statement, the pair, both 16, taunted 

and punched a sophomore who is Jewish last September, 

after harassing him with anti-Semitic statements. 

In the following months, one of the students continued to 

direct anti-Semitic slurs at the sophomore, the statement 

noted. 

On April 30, one of the two boys confronted the Jewish 

student on the athletic field at the high school and told him 

that he "should be put in an oven" and then punched him in 

the face, the release said. 

The Attorney General's complaint alleges that this conduct, 

plus additional conduct outlined in court documents, 

constituted bias-motivated violence and threats in violation 

of the Maine Civil Rights Act. 

The Attorney General seeks a permanent injunction 

prohibiting the two boys from any further harassment of the 

sophomore. 

"Anti -Semitic violence and threats, as with racist, 

homophobic and other forms of violent bias, are 

contemptible and illegal," Ketterer said in the statement.  

"My office will continue to work closely with local law 

enforcement to enforce the state's civil rights laws." 

Ketterer commended the Oakland Police Department for its 

investigative work. 

Morse said it was ironic that SAD 47 officials had 

approached the AG's office asking them to provide 

workshops for just this type of problem. 

"This was before we were aware specifically of this 

incident," Morse said. "We just thought it was timely." 

Morse said he received a call from the AG's office, but not 

the one he was expecting. 

"I got a call, probably the beginning of this week," he said. 

"They told me a complaint had been filed." 

Morse said he still wants to offer the workshops. 

"The biggest thing this school can do is make sure young 

people at the high school are aware that this type of verbal 

accosting is criminal," he said. 

"The crime of the 90's is the issue that you can violate the 

law by using your mouth," Morse said. "I don't know if kids 

have come to a full understanding of that. 

"The goal is to have (the workshops) in the fall when all the 

new, incoming freshmen are here, so the entire student 

population is being educated at the same time." 

 Obviously, from the above, resignations this year included 

Carroll Thompson, from the principalship of Messalonskee High 

School.  Additionally, both Deborah Howard and Steve Lavoie 

left administrative posts at Williams, Howard for Augusta, and 

Lavoie for Brunswick.  Mr. Randall Rolfe was named Howardôs 

replacement in June; Lavoieôs replacement was Jason Tarr, 

coming from Ashland. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 20012002 
 Jason Tarr, assistant principal, was replaced by Jay 

Robinson. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 2002-2003 
 Randall Rolfe left WJHS in April, and Jay Robinson filled in 

until he left at the end of the year. 

 

SCHOOL YEAR 2003-2004 

 
Illus 12 - Messalonskee Middle School, classroom wing, 

west end 
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Illus 13 - Messalonskee Middle School, classroom wing, 

south view 
 

 
Illus 14 - Messalonskee Middle School, main entrance, 

south view 
 The new Messalonskee Middle School was occupied at the 

beginning of the year. 

 New administrators included principal Mark Hatch and 

assistant principal Aaron McCullough. 

 The Tapley School, closed for several years due to air 

quality issues, reopened as the Superintendentôs Office.  The 

Board of Directors has its new meeting room in the building and 

all central office functions are now in this beautiful old, but still 

useful, building. 

 

SCHOOL YEARS IN THE FUTURE: 
 As this is being written (June 2009), the Messalonskee 

School District has reconstructed or renovated four buildings, 

including Williams JHS, Belgrade Central, James H Bean, and 

Oakland Primary (renamed the Ralph M Atwood School, after 

the only District Superintendent from 1965 to 1982).  

Messalonskee Middle School, containing district 6
th
, 7

th
 and 8

th
 

graders, as well as additions to the Bean and Belgrade Schools, 

closing the Tapley School have substantially eliminated 

overcrowding in grades K-8.  Overcrowding is still severely 

evident at Messalonskee High School, however.  The 

Messalonskee addition/renovation cost over $10,000,000, and 

substantially rebuilt the building, enlarging and modernizing it.  

Just how long this construction will solve overcrowding in an 

extremely fast-growing school district, only time will tell.  But 

this writer is impressed that the history of Oakland's schools for 

over 100 years is one of repeated overcrowding as the town grew 

from just over 2,000 in 1900 to nearly 6,000 by the 2000 Census 

year.  When the junior high and high school are considered, the 

enrollment of Belgrade, Rome and Sidney students pushes the 

effective population of the District to well over 10,000.  When 

the growth will end we just don't know. 

Industry 

 The best way to write of the industries which arose on 

Messalonskee Stream in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries 

is to discuss the several dams on the river separately.  But first, 

let us take a closer look at the stream itself. 

 Messalonskee Stream, is the outlet of the Belgrade Lakes.  It 

runs 9½ miles, through Oakland and Waterville, emptying into 

the Kennebec River in that city.  In its passage through Oakland, 

there is a fall of 120 feet, which is responsible for the great 

amount of water power potential here.  In 1900, it was estimated 

that the stream properly used, could produce up to 6250 

horsepower, as compared to 8000 hp on the Kennebec at 

Waterville's Ticonic Falls.57 

 The stream, also known as Emerson's Stream, saw small 

industry before the year 1800.  One early industrialist may have 

been Flint Barton, ironsmith.  Barton was born in Sutton MA in 

1749, and resided in Vassalboro before the Revolution; he may 

have been located in what is now Oakland.58 

 The industries along Messalonskee Stream in Oakland have 

been in four locations: (1) at the outlet of the lake where State 

Route 23 (Summer Street) crosses the stream; (2) at a dam a bit 

south of where School Street crosses; (3) at a third dam just north 

of where Kennedy Memorial Drive crosses; and (4) at a dam 

about 1/10 of a mile north of the third.  I have taken the liberty of 

naming these dams Coombs's, Lord's, Cornforth's and Cascade 

dams after the first major industries located at each.  The 

industries located at each dam will be discussed in the order in 

which the dams were built, Coombs's, Cornforth's, Cascade, and 

Lord's. 

Coombs's Dam 

 Jonathan Coombs is listed59 as one of the first settlers of 

what was to become Oakland.  In the Census of 1790, he is listed 

with his family as a resident of "Winslow Town with its 

adjacents," having a family of one free white male over 16 

(Coombs) and two females (probably his wife and daughter).  It 

was he who built the first dam on this section of Messalonskee 

Stream.  It is obvious that when the dam was built, the level of 

Messalonskee Lake rose, causing farm land at the south end of 

                                                 
57 CHW, 338 
58 Brundage, Larry.  "Oakland, Maine Axes and Other Edge Tools."  Chronicle of 

the Early American Industries Association, 34:3, (September 1981), 51. 
59 Kingsbury, Henry D and Simeon L Deyo, eds.  Illustrated History of Kennebec 

County, Maine 1625-1799-1892.  NH: H W Blake, 1892, 2v, p1065. 






















































































































































































































